MOUNTAIN-PLAINS CONSORTIUM

MPC 24-540 | A.D. Sorensen and I. Abu Shanab

IMPROVED SUSTAINABILITY AND EFFICIENCY OF PARTIAL-DEPTH CONCRETE BRIDGE DECK REPAIR





A University Transportation Center sponsored by the U.S. Department of Transportation serving the Mountain-Plains Region. Consortium members:

Colorado State University North Dakota State University South Dakota State University University of Colorado Denver University of Denver University of Utah Utah State University University of Wyoming

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession	No. 3. Re	cipient's Catalog No.	-		
MPC-661						
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Re	oort Date			
			August 2024			
Improved Sustainability and Efficie	Improved Sustainability and Efficiency of Partial-Depth Concr			Codo		
Blidge Deck Repair		0. Fe	norming Organization	I Code		
7. Author(s)		8. Pei	forming Organization	Report No.		
Andrew D. Sorensen			MPC 24-54	1		
Israi I.H. Abu Shanab			1011 0 24-040	,		
9. Performing Organization Name and Add	lress	10. W	ork Unit No. (TRAIS)			
Utah State University						
4110 Old Main Hill		11. C	ontract or Grant No.			
Logan, UT, 84322-4110						
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Addres	S	13. Ty	pe of Report and Per	iod Covered		
Mountain-Plains Consortium			Final Repor	t		
North Dakota State University		14 8		do		
PO Box 6050, Fargo, ND 58108		14. 5	Jonsoning Agency Co	ue		
15. Supplementary Notes						
Supported by a grant from the US	DOT, University Transpor	tation Centers Program				
16 Abstract						
				-1- 6		
Recently, significant advances have	e been made in the devel	opment of rapid setting of materials allow for traffi	ementitious materi	als for		
bridge deck in several hours versus	s days once the material h	has been placed. While t	his is a substantial			
improvement in reducing the traffic	closure time, much time i	s still spent on the remo	val of damaged and	Ł		
deteriorated bridge deck and in pre	paring the concrete cutor	ts for placement of the r	apid set material. P	Partial		
the concrete surrounding and below	ate process than full deck	tained Therefore the p	emoval as the sour	ianess oi ocess is		
extremely labor intensive. With the	recent development of au	itonomous machinery, th	is labor-intensive p	process		
may be able to become more efficient	ent. However, prior to dev	eloping autonomous ma	chines to prepare t	he		
patches, foundational research on	methods that reduce the	preparation time and that	can be easily auto	omated		
impact than others.	y, some removal and prep	Daration methods have n	lore of an environm	lentai		
The everall chiestive of this study is	to overning different rem	aval mathada ta daaraa	a traffia alcoura tin	no duo to		
the preparation process for partial-	depth replacement. impro	ve the efficiency of the c	oncrete removal m	ethods.		
and evaluate the life cycle sustaina	bility of those techniques.	The initial portion of the	study evaluates th	e current		
partial deck removal techniques cu	rrently used in practice, ir	cluding sawing, jackham	nmering, milling, an	d hydro-		
demolition. Each of these methods	has advantages and disa	dvantages when it come	s to partial deck re	moval.		
A comparative study of the differen	t concrete removal metho	ds is carried out to ident	ify the least invasiv	e		
environmental removal technique f	or partial-depth bridge de	ck repair. An experiment	al study is designed	d to		
techniques based on removal time	, life cvcle sustainability, a	and effect on the concret	e surrounding the p	batch.		
Furthermore, the different equipme	nt used during the concre	ete removal process is ev	aluated to assess	minor and		
major cracks, which could develop	because of concrete failu	re. For example, using a	hydro-demolition t	echnique		
is conducted to investigate the influ	incn-through problem. A s ienced parameters of pur	mail-trial water jet exper	iment that impacts	concrete		
47 Key Mard						
17. Rey Word 18. Distribution Statement						
Concrete bridge; Deck repair		Public dis	tribution			
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price		
Unclassified	Unclassifi	ed	90	n/a		
Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72) Reproduction of completed page authorized						

Improved Sustainability and Efficiency of Partial-Depth Concrete Bridge Deck Repair

Andrew D. Sorensen

Israi I.H. Abu Shanab

Utah State University

Logan, Utah

August 2024

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the U.S. Department of Transportation through the Mountain Plains Consortium (MPC) for funding this research. In addition, the authors would also like to acknowledge a good number of colleagues and peers who provided valuable assistance and advice during this project.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation, University Transportation Centers Program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

North Dakota State University does not discriminate in its programs and activities on the basis of age, color, gender expression/identity, genetic information, marital status, national origin, participation in lawful off-campus activity, physical or mental disability, pregnancy, public assistance status, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation, spousal relationship to current employee, or veteran status, as applicable. Direct inquiries to Vice Provost, Title IX/ADA Coordinator, Old Main 100, (701) 231-7708, https://doi.org/ndsu.com

ABSTRACT

Recently, significant advances have been made in the development of rapid setting cementitious materials for partial-depth bridge deck repair. The rapid set times of these materials allow for traffic to be re-opened onto the bridge deck in several hours versus days once the material has been placed. While this is a substantial improvement in reducing traffic closure time, much time is still spent on the removal of damaged and deteriorated bridge deck and in preparing the concrete cutouts for placement of the rapid set material. Partial deck removal is a much more delicate process than full deck or pavement roadway removal as the soundness of the concrete surrounding and below the cutout must be maintained. Therefore, the patch preparation process is extremely labor intensive. With the recent development of autonomous machinery, this labor-intensive process may be able to become more efficient. However, prior to developing autonomous machines to prepare the patches, foundational research on methods that reduce the preparation methods have more of an environmental impact than others.

The overall objective of this study is to examine different removal methods to decrease traffic closure time due to the preparation process for partial-depth replacement, improve the efficiency of the concrete removal methods, and evaluate the life cycle sustainability of those techniques. The initial portion of the study evaluates the current partial deck removal techniques currently used in practice, including sawing, jackhammering, milling, and hydro-demolition. Each of these methods has advantages and disadvantages when it comes to partial deck removal.

A comparative study of the different concrete removal methods is carried out to identify the least invasive environmental removal technique for partial-depth bridge deck repair. An experimental study is designed to remove the concrete patches using different discretized sawing-jackhammering methods to evaluate those techniques based on removal time, life cycle sustainability, and effect on the concrete surrounding the patch. Furthermore, the different equipment used during the concrete removal process is evaluated to assess the minor and major cracks, which could develop because of concrete failure. For example, using a hydro-demolition technique for partial-depth repair causes a punch-through problem. A small-trial water jet experiment that impacts concrete is conducted to investigate the influenced parameters of punch-through occurrence.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INT	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	Background	1
	1.2	Problem Statement and Scope	2
	1.3	Research Objective	2
	1.4	Study Organization	
2.	LIT	ERATURE REVIEW	4
	2.1	Partial-depth Concrete Removal Techniques	4
		2.1.1 Saw and Patch	5
		2.1.2 Chip and Patch	6
		2.1.3 Mill and Patch	6
		2.1.4 Waterblast and Patch	7
	2.2	The Construction Procedure of the Partial-depth Repair	8
	2.3	Sustainability and Environment Assessment	9
		2.3.1 Life cycle Assessment	9
		2.3.2 Environmental Assessment of Bridge Rehabilitation Phase	11
	2.4	Hydro-demolition/water Jet Technique	
		2.4.1 Influence Parameters of Hydro-demolition/water Jet	12
		2.4.2 Water Jet Impacts on Concrete	
	2.5	Summary	
3.	AIF	R EMISSION OF DIFFERENT PARTIAL-DEPTH CONCRETE BRIDGE DECK	
	RE	PAIR TECHNIQUES: A COMPARATIVE STUDY	17
	3.1	Introduction	
	3.2	Research Methodology	
	3.3	Case Study Analysis	
		3.3.1 Case Description	
		3.3.2 Equipment Designation	
		3.3.3 Utilization Time	
	3.4	Results and Discussion	
	3.5	Impacts of Repair Method on Traffic	
	3.6	Conclusion	
4.		PROVED REMOVAL EFFICIENCY OF PARTIAL BRIDGE DECK REPAIR	20
	rA.	ICHES USING THE SAW AND PATCH METHOD	
	4.1	Introduction	

	4.2	Methodology	30
	4.3	Experimental Setup and Procedure	30
		4.3.1 The Experimental Design	30
		4.3.2 Experiment Procedure	34
	4.4	Results and Discussion	37
		4.4.1 Concrete Compressive Strength	37
		4.4.2 Saw Removal Time	38
		4.4.3 Jackhammering Time	40
		4.4.4 Concrete Removal Volume	41
		4.4.5 Optimal Removal Method	42
		4.4.6 Applied Example	43
	4.5	Conclusion	44
5.	EXI	PERIMENTAL STUDY OF THE HIGH-PRESSURE WATER JET "HYDRO-	
	DEN	MOLITION TECHNIQUE" IMPACTING CONCRETE FOR PARTIAL-DEPTH	
	CO	NCRETE BRIDGE DECK REPAIR	45
	5.1	Introduction	45
	5.2	Methodology	47
	5.3	Experimental Setup, Procedure & Results	47
		5.3.1 Equipment	47
		5.3.2 Sample Specimens	47
		5.3.3 Experimental Procedure	51
		5.3.4 Experimental Results	54
	5.4	Experimental Setup, Procedure & Results	55
		5.4.1 Statistical Analysis of the Line Cutting	55
		5.4.2 Statistical analysis of the penetration points	57
	5.5	Conclusion	63
6.	SUN	MMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND FUTURE WORKS	64
	6.1	Summary & Conclusions	64
	6.2	Recommendation for Future Works	65
7.	REI	FERENCES	66
AP	PENI	DIX A	73
AP]	PENI	DIX B	75
AP]	PENI	DIX C	77

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1	GREET model for on-road vehicles	19
Table 3.2	Emission factors for on-road vehicles	20
Table 3.3	MOVES2014b model non-road equipment	20
Table 3.4	Emission factors for non-road equipment	21
Table 3.5	The removal time of each removal method	24
Table 3.6	Air pollutant emissions calculations by removal methods	25
Table 3.7	Environmental weighted ranking for the removal techniques	26
Table 3.8	Total emissions rate (kilogram per hour)	27
Table 3.9	The total emissions per cubic feet of removal concrete (kilogram per cubic foot)	27
Table 3.10	Traffic delays	28
Table 4.1	Average compressive strengths of concrete	37
Table 4.2	Rebound tests' results	37
Table 4.3	Time of saw line cutting (minutes: seconds)	38
Table 4.4	Concrete removal volume (ft ³)	41
Table 4.5:	The total sawing and jackhammering times of Method IV	42
Table 4.6	The required time of concrete removal using the four methods	43
Table 5.1	The properties of concrete specimens	51
Table 5.2	AWJ input paraments	51
Table 5.3	Line cutting experimental results	54
Table 5.4	Sample experimental results of penetration point testing for concrete strength 5,460 psi	55
Table 5.5	Material removal rates	56
Table 5.6	The uncertainty of the compressive strength of concrete	57
Table 5.7	Material removal of AWJ cutting	57
Table 5.8	ANOVA results for the cutting depth model	61

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Partial-depth repair types (Frentress and Harrington 2012)	4
Figure 2.2	(a) sawing the repairing boundaries and (b) removing the repairing area using	
_	jackhammer (Wu et al. 2001)	5
Figure 2.3	Milling head types (a) "V" Head, (b) Rounded head, and (c) Vertical edge head	
	(Frentress and Harrington 2012)	7
Figure 2.4	Hydro-demolition procedure	8
Figure 2.5	Construction steps of partial-depth repair for concrete bridge deck	9
Figure 2.6	LCA phases according to ISO 14044 (ISO 2006)	10
Figure 2.7	Components of water jet	13
Figure 2.8	The input and output parameters of the water jet process	14
Figure 3.1	Process and equipment of concrete removal methods	19
Figure 3.2	Total emissions of each removal technique	26
Figure 4.1	Concrete test slabs with respective 28 days compressive strengths (f'c)	30
Figure 4.2	The four discretized methods of partial-depth concrete removal	31
Figure 4.3	MAKITA EK7651H 14" concrete saw	31
Figure 4.4	HILTI-TE 1000-AVR concrete jackhammer	32
Figure 4.5	Gilson HM-705 Rebound hammer	32
Figure 4.6	Circles located on the concrete side where the rebound hammer test is taken	33
Figure 4.7	Concrete core test equipment	33
Figure 4.8	Preparation of the concrete slab before saw-cutting	34
Figure 4.9	Sawing the concrete along the discretization lines	34
Figure 4.10	The concrete slab after saw cutting	35
Figure 4.11	Jackhammer removal of the concrete	35
Figure 4.12	The concrete slab after jackhammer removal	36
Figure 4.13	Verifying the removal depth	36
Figure 4.14	The required time of saw cutting line	39
Figure 4.15	Boxplots of saw cutting time	39
Figure 4.16	The number of the saw-cutting lines vs. jackhammering time	40
Figure 4.17	Examples of pull-off/impact angles of the jackhammer	41
Figure 4.18	Boxplots of concrete removal volume (ft ³)	42
Figure 4.19	Removal of the discretized concrete pieces	43
Figure 5.1	Examples of bridge deck punch-through, (a) insignificant punch-through and	
	(b) significant punch-through (Roper 2018)	46
Figure 5.2	FLOW abrasive water jet machine	47
Figure 5.3	Concrete specimens for water jet cutting	48
Figure 5.4	Slump test	49
Figure 5.5	Air content test	49
Figure 5.6	Cylinders for compressive strength	50
Figure 5.7	Compressive strength test, (a) before applying the loads, (b) after applying the loads	50
Figure 5.8	The cutting operations of concrete	51
Figure 5.9	Submerging the concrete slabs	52
Figure 5.10	Penetration point cutting	53

Figure 5.11	Measuring the penetration cutting depth	
Figure 5.12	Measuring the line's cutting depth	
Figure 5.13	Normalization of the material removal rate	
Figure 5.14	The input effect of the input parameters on the cutting depth of concrete	
Figure 5.15	Predicted cutting depth versus the experimental cutting depth	
Figure 5.16	Residuals of the models	

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This research seeks to study different removal methods to decrease traffic closure time due to the preparation process for partial-depth replacement (PDR) as well as evaluates the life cycle sustainability of those techniques. The initial portion of the study evaluates the current partial deck removal techniques discussed in recent literature, currently used by the Utah Department of Transportation (UDOT), and also from other surrounding state departments of transportation (DOTs). A preliminary review of these sources has identified jackhammering, sawing, milling, and hydro-demolition as some commonly utilized methods for concrete removal. Each one of these methods has advantages and disadvantages when it comes to partial deck removal. However, no study could be found that included a combination of methods coupled with their environmental impact. Therefore, a comparative study of the different concrete removal techniques for partial-depth bridge deck repair. In addition, this study evaluates different concrete removal techniques based on removal time, life cycle sustainability, and the effect on the concrete surrounding the patch. In addition to single techniques, combinations of different techniques are also evaluated. For example, rather than just sawing the edges of the patch location, a discretization of the patch could be sawn, which in theory would reduce the amount of time a jackhammer needs to remove the concrete.

Furthermore, each concrete removal technique uses different equipment, requires specific time, and goes to a certain depth to remove the deteriorated concrete layers. Using any equipment increases the applied loads on the bridge deck and causes minor and/or major cracks, which could develop into concrete failure in some instances. For example, using the hydro-demolition technique for partial-depth repair (PDR) can result in complete punch-through. This study conducts an experiment of water jet impacts on concrete to investigate the influenced parameters of the punch-through occurrence and to develop a model for controlling the removal depth. A subsequent finite element model, using LS-DYNA software, is developed to simulate the concrete behavior under the impacts of the high-pressure water jet, allowing for an optimization analysis of the process parameters.

The overall objective of this project is to study different removal methods to decrease traffic closure time due to the preparation process for PDR, improve the efficiency of concrete removal methods, and evaluate the life cycle sustainability of those techniques. To achieve this objective, the following specific research objectives are identified:

- 1) Identify from the existing literature commonly used concrete patch removal methods utilized in partial-depth bridge deck repair.
- 2) Quantify the removal time for commonly used concrete patch removal methods.
- 3) Identify additional techniques that decrease the removal time of partial deck patches and that may be automated.
- 4) Determine the environmental sustainability of different concrete removal techniques relative to the partial bridge deck removal.
- 5) Determine an optimized removal method that accounts for both the time efficiency and environmental impact.

To investigate the environmental impact of each removal method, a comparative study of the different concrete removal methods is conducted to identify the least environmentally impactful removal technique for partial-depth bridge deck repair. The methods are evaluated from an environmental perspective by estimating the air pollutant emission emitted by each method. Five-air pollutant emissions, CO2, CO, NOx, SO2, and PM10, are estimated utilizing the MOVES2014b and GREET models. The results showed that the milling technique produces the largest amount of emissions. The chipping method generated the lowest amount of emissions. CO2 is produced in large quantities among all techniques while SO2 is the smallest compared with other emissions. Additionally, the results indicate that the amount of air emissions increases relative to the utilization time of the removal technique. The values for emissions per

cubic foot can also be used to estimate emissions for larger projects for which environmental offsets can be made. Also note that the estimated removal times can also help transportation officials determine the best methods as the goal in partial-depth replacement is typically to re-open the travel lanes to traffic as soon as possible. The results of the study are significant in that they can be used to help state and local transportation officials develop removal standards that include sustainable practices.

To expedite the concrete removal time and decrease traffic closure time due to the preparation process when the saw and patch method is used, an experimental study is carried out. This study evaluates four different discretized sawing and jackhammering methods in terms of removal time, equipment usage, and damage to the surrounding concrete area. The impacts of utilizing this removal equipment on the soundness of the concrete surrounding the patch area are also evaluated. The performance of the removal methods is evaluated in terms of the patch preparation time which directly correlates to the bridge traffic closure time. This study concludes that increasing the saw cutting lines decreases the jackhammering time for the different concrete strengths and increases the concrete removal volume. The saw and patch method can be influenced by many factors such as the operator's skills and health/energy level, saw blade sharpness, and jackhammer pull-off angle. Method IV, which has the largest number of saw-cut lines, is the optimal concrete removal method among the other proposed methods and saves approximately 35% of the required concrete removal time. Also, it has the potential to be automated in the future.

Finally, the hydro-demolition technique, used for the partial-depth bridge deck repair is investigated with the objective to eliminate the occurrence of the punch-through problem. Experimental, statistical, and numerical analyses are performed to analyze the impacts of high-pressure water on concrete as part of the PDR of a concrete bridge deck. Small-scale trials of 15 concrete specimens with varying compressive strengths are tested. Statistical analysis for the experimental data of abrasive water jet on concrete with different compressive strengths is then carried out to develop a predictive model for determining the input parameters to accurately predict concrete removal to a specified depth. Finally, the Arbitrary Lagrangian-Eulerian (ALE) numerical modeling method is applied in the commercial software ANSYS/LS-DYNA to simulate the response of the concrete bridge deck under the impacts of the high-pressure water jet. Explicitly, the goal of this experiment is to develop numerical models of the removal of concrete bridge decks to precise depths as a function of water jet pressure and concrete compressive strength. The experimental study finds that the water pressure, the cutting time, and the compressive strength of concrete influence the cutting depth of the water jet. The statistical analysis provides a multi-regression model that can be employed for the prediction and optimization of response parameters of the hydrodemolition technique. In addition, the numerical model simulates the concrete removal process using the ALE-FEM coupled method, the concrete damage mechanism is explained, and the influence factors are identified. Finally, it is concluded that the punch-through problem can be eliminated and the water jet cutting depth can be controlled by knowing and controlling the process parameters, such as the given water pressure, the cutting time, and the compressive strength of the deteriorated concrete. The results of this study can provide a better understating of the controllability and efficiency of using the hydrodemolition technique for partial-depth concrete bridge deck removal.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Bridges, as fundamental structures, play an essential role within the highway transportation network and over the entire transportation sector. Most bridges were built during the late 1950s through the early 1970s. As of 2019, there were more than 600,000 bridges in existence in the United States (BTS 2019). Increasing population and traffic, code changes, and safety standards mean that there is a frequent need to strengthen, repair, or replace certain structural components of bridges. According to the American Road and Transportation Builders Association, one of every three bridges in service in the United States requires either repair or deck replacement (ARTBA 2021). It is worth mentioning that the total in service bridge deck area is 4 billion square feet, and almost 5% of the bridge deck area is categorized as having a poor condition rating. This equates to approximately 230 million square feet of bridge deck in need of either repair or replacement (BTS 2019). Replacement and repair of bridge decks causes severe traffic disruptions and delays resulting in adverse impacts on the local transportation network. As such, it is imperative that advances be made in concrete bridge deck repair and replacement technology that limit network disruption and traffic delay. One of these methods where advances can still be made is in partialdepth bridge deck repair. Partial-depth repair (PDR) is defined as the removal and replacement of small areas of deteriorated concrete pavement in order to prevent the spread of spalling distresses caused by repeated thermal stresses, freezing and thawing, and traffic loads. PDR is suitable for distress located to a depth of one-third to one-half the bridge deck thickness; the process includes removal of concrete, preparation of repair area, placement of patch material, and application of curing material (Smith et al. 2008).

Recently, significant advances have been made in the development of rapid setting cementitious materials for partial-depth bridge deck repair. The rapid set times of these materials allow for traffic to be re-opened onto a bridge deck in several hours, versus days, once the material has been placed (Sorensen et al. 2018). While this is a substantial improvement in reducing traffic closure time, a significant amount of time is still spent on removing the damaged and deteriorated bridge deck patches and in prepping the concrete cutouts for placement of the rapid set material. Partial deck removal is a much more delicate process than full deck or pavement removal as the soundness of the concrete surrounding and below the cut out must be maintained; therefore, the patch preparation process is extremely labor intensive. With the recent development of autonomous machinery, this labor-intensive process may be able to become more efficient. However, prior to developing autonomous machines to prep the patches, foundational research on methods that reduce preparation time and that can be easily automated needs to be carried out.

In addition to the large amount of time it takes to prepare the patches, and with the objective of identifying potentially automated methods, it is noteworthy that some removal and preparation methods have a greater environmental impact than others. Kucukvar and Tatari stated that the construction and maintenance activities of roads, highways, and bridges are major sources of environmental pollutants including air, water, and soil (Kucukvar and Tatari 2013). In general, the transportation sector is the second-largest emissions contributor after the building sector (Liu et al. 2014). The U.S Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) reported that the transportation sector accounts for nearly 28% of U.S greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, which means it is the largest contributor to GHG emissions. From 1990 to 2018, the GHG emissions from the transportation sector increased rapidly when compared with other sectors (EPA 2020). Improving sustainability and reducing the pollutants from transportation is a primary objective of the Utah Department of Transportation (UDOT) and other state departments of transportation (DOTs).

1.2 Problem Statement and Scope

This research seeks to study different removal methods to decrease traffic closure time due to the preparation process for partial-depth replacement as well as evaluates the life cycle sustainability of those techniques. The initial portion of the study evaluates the current partial deck removal techniques discussed in recent literature, currently used by UDOT, and also from other surrounding state DOTs. A preliminary review of these sources has identified jackhammering, sawing, milling, and hydro-demolition as some commonly utilized methods for concrete removal. Each of these methods has advantages and disadvantages when it comes to partial deck removal. However, no study could be found that included a combination of methods coupled with their environmental impact. Therefore, a comparative study of the different concrete removal methods is carried out to identify the least environmentally invasive removal techniques based on removal time, life cycle sustainability, and effect on the concrete surrounding the patch. In addition to single techniques, combinations of different techniques are also evaluated. For example, rather than just sawing the edges of the patch location, a discretization of the patch could be sawn, which in theory would reduce the amount of time a jackhammer needs to remove the concrete.

Furthermore, each concrete removal technique uses different equipment, requires a specific time, and goes to a certain depth to remove the deteriorated concrete layers. Using any equipment increases the applied loads on the bridge deck and causes minor/major cracks, which could be developed to concrete failure in some instances. For example, using the hydro-demolition technique for partial-depth repair (PDR) can result in complete punch-through. In this study, an experiment of water jet impacts on concrete is conducted to investigate the influenced parameters of the punch-through occurrence and to develop a model for controlling the removal depth.

The research results will help guide transportation agencies tasked with repairing bridge decks on the most time efficient and minimally environmentally invasive methods of removal for partial bridge deck repair. It is anticipated that the removal method will reduce the amount of time spent in repairing bridge decks as well as the time the bridge is closed to traffic. This results in reduced construction costs and improved productivity from traffic flows. Additionally, the quantification of the sustainable life cycle impact of the removal methods will also help to drive responsible environmental planning.

1.3 Research Objective

The overall objective of this project is to study different removal methods to decrease traffic closure time due to the preparation process for partial-depth replacement, improve the efficiency of the concrete removal methods, and evaluate the life cycle sustainability of those techniques. To achieve this objective, the following specific research objectives are identified:

- 1) Identify from the existing literature commonly used concrete patch removal methods used in partial-depth bridge deck repair.
- 2) Quantify the removal time for commonly used concrete patch removal methods.
- 3) Identify additional techniques that decrease the removal time of partial deck patches and that may be automated.
- 4) Determine the environmental sustainability of different concrete removal techniques relative to the partial bridge deck removal.
- 5) Determine an optimized removal method that accounts for both the time efficiency and environmental impact.

1.4 Study Organization

The organization of this study contains seven chapters. Chapter 1 gives the general background, the problem statement and scope, and the objectives of the research study. Chapter 2 contains an overview of the relevant research works, including the PDR techniques and the construction procedure of those techniques, the sustainability and the environmental life cycle assessment, and the influenced parameters of hydro-demolition/water jet. Chapter 3 presents the air emission pollutants comparison of different partial-depth concrete bridge deck removal techniques. Chapter 4 contains the experimental study to determine concrete removal time and efficiency for different removal techniques. Chapter 5 is the experimental study of the hydro-demolition/high-pressure water jet technique impacting concrete for partial-depth concrete bridge deck repair. Chapter 6 presents an optimization study of the high-pressure water jet impact on concrete for partial-depth concrete bridge deck repair. Chapter 6 presents an optimization study of the high-pressure water jet impact on concrete for partial-depth concrete bridge deck repair. Shows the main conclusions drawn from the study, and presents some recommendations for further research.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Partial-depth Concrete Removal Techniques

PDR of concrete bridge decks is defined as the removal and/or replacement of a small area or patch of deteriorated concrete, which is then replaced with a repair material. The removal depth is typically limited to the top one-third of the slab thickness (Smith et al. 2008). Therefore, it can be used for certain types of concrete distresses: spalling caused by the intrusion of incompressible materials into the joints; spalling caused by poor consolidation, inadequate curing, or improper finishing practices; spalling caused by weak concrete, clay balls, or mesh reinforcing steel located too close to the surface; and spalling caused by an inadequate air void system (Frentress and Harrington 2012). The PDR boundaries should extend 2 to 6 inches outside the deteriorated area (Wilson et al. 1999). FWHA (2017) guidelines include specifications that the removal area should be square or rectangular with a minimum 12-inch length and minimum 4-inch width, and the repair limits should extend outside the deteriorated area by 3 to 4 inches.

Frentress and Harrington (2012) identified three main types of PDRs for spalls, joints, and cracks. Type (1) is considered for a repair spot length between 15 inches and 6 feet and Type (2) when the length of the repair area exceeds 6 feet along a longitudinal or transverse joint or crack. Type (3) occurs when the repair area extends full depth at joint intersections or slab edges for short areas. Type (1) is commonly performed to a small, isolated area of deteriorated concrete areas. These repair areas are less than 6-ft. long and around a 2-in. depth with a tapered edge (30–60 degrees) to the bottom of the joint or the crack. Also, Type (1) is typically addressed to repair mid-slab surface spalling or cracking, joint spalling, severe surface scaling, and joint reservoir issues. Type (2) is considered when the repair areas are longer than 6 feet and extending as deep as one-half the depth of the concrete slab in transverse and longitudinal joints or cracks. Type (3) is mainly a full-depth corner repair and used to repair the deteriorated slab edges and corners for a short distance of approximately 18 inches. Bottom-half repairs performed at the outer edges of a slab should not be more than 18 inches in the transverse direction at the bottom of the repair. In longitudinal joints it can extend 18 inches along the longitudinal joint. Figure 2.1 shows the three types of PDRs.



Figure 2.1 Partial-depth repair types (Frentress and Harrington 2012)

Several methods and techniques can be used to remove the deteriorated concrete. The American Concrete Institute (ACI) standard ACI 546R-14/130.1R-09, Guide to Concrete Repair, classifies concrete removal methods based on the removal process in five categories: blasting, cutting, milling, abrading, presplitting, and impacting methods (ACI 2014). The ACI 555R-01 report, Removal and Reuse of Hardened Concrete, classifies the concrete removal methods according to the tools and equipment into nine methods: hand

tools, hand-operated power tools, drills and saws, water-jet blasting, explosive blasting, vehicle-mounted equipment, nonexplosive demolition agents, and mechanical splitter demolition of concrete structures by heat (ACI 2001). The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) considers five removal methods: saw and patch, chip and patch, mill and patch, water-blast and patch, and clear and patch (Wilson et al. 1999). Similarly, another FHWA study utilized the previous methods with the exclusion of the clear and patch method (FHWA 2017). ACI defined the sawing method and milling method as the two most common PDR methods (ACI 2017). In practice, chipping and water-blasting are the most common concrete removal methods are identified: saw and patch, chip and patch, mill and patch, and waterblast and patch. These four methods are considered in this study and a discussion of the different removal techniques utilized in this study follows.

2.1.1 Saw and Patch

Saw and patch is the most frequently used method. It starts by using a diamond-bladed saw to outline the repair patch boundaries at a cutting depth of approximately 2 inches (Smith et al. 2008). For larger repair patches, sawing may include the interior concrete of the repair area to facilitate the removal process (Smith et al. 2014). After sawing, a light jackhammer with a maximum weight of 15 pounds is used to complete the removal process. A jackhammer with a maximum impact force of 35 pounds could be permitted if damage to non-deteriorated concrete is avoided (Wilson et al. 1999). Finally, a jackhammer is used to remove the polished vertical saw cutting edge by chipping out the concrete 2 inches beyond the saw cutting to produce an angle between 30 and 60 degrees. This creates a rough surface, which enhances the bonding of the repair material to the existing concrete (Frentress and Harrington 2012). Figure 2.2 shows the saw and patch approach. Frentress and Harrington (2012) state that most repair crews are familiar with the saw and patch method, and it is cost-effective for small projects in general. Wilson and others (1999) point out other advantages, such as the fact that saw cutting makes vertical edge boundaries and is isolated to the concrete repair area, so the applied chipping forces do not severely affect the surrounding the sound, nondetiorated, concrete. On the other hand, this method has drawbacks such as the fact that without proper care during jackhammering operations, spalling may occur outside the saw cutting boundaries. This method is also time consuming and not cost-effective for large repair projects (Smith et al. 2014; Frentress and Harrington 2012).



Figure 2.2 (a) sawing the repairing boundaries and (b) removing the repairing area using jackhammer (Wu et al. 2001)

2.1.2 Chip and Patch

The chip and patch method is slightly different from the saw and patch method as the patch boundaries are not sawed. The removal starts from the inside of the repair area toward the edges using a light jackhammer with a maximum impact force of less than 35 pounds with the chisel point always directed toward the inside of the patch (Frentress and Harrington 2012). The chip and patch method may be faster and quicker than the saw and patch method as it has fewer steps (i.e., no sawing for the repair area boundaries and no saw overcut to be cleaned and sealed). In addition, the rough edges promote bonding, and spalling is more controlled through the use of a lighter jackhammer (Wilson et al. 1999). The disadvantages of chip and patch include difficulty to achieve vertical sides and using the jackhammer may cause feathered repair area edges (Wilson et al. 1999).

2.1.3 Mill and Patch

The mill and patch method, also known as the carbide milling method or cold milling method, is another common PDR method (ACI 2017). Milling machines with 12-inch-wide to 18-inch-wide milling heads are used to remove the deteriorated concrete (FHWA 2017). The milling heads should be designed with a mechanism that will stop break-through of the concrete at a preset depth (Smith et al. 2014). The milling operation can be either parallel to a joint or across a joint. The industry produces three milling head types: the "V" head, rounded head, and the vertical edge, as shown in Figure 2.3, all of which can be used on longitudinal and transverse joints and cracks (FHWA 2014). Milling with the V-head or rounded head has been used very successfully on transverse joints without any additional sawing and with only minor chipping at the edge of the repair where a tapered edge with a taper angle between 30 and 60 degrees to the bottom of the joint is the preferred shape. However, the vertical edge head can increase chipping at the top edge (as shown in Figure 2.3c), making it more commonly used when highway agencies require saw cutting for all transverse joints repaired with partial-depth milling (Frentress and Harrington 2012). The advantages of the mill and patch method are that it is an economical and effective method with large repair areas, leaves a rough, irregular, surface that promotes bonding, and it requires less labor than other methods (Frentress and Harrington 2012). The drawbacks of this method are that it may not match with the site because the milling has a standardized size, extra milling may be required to widen the original milled channel when milling along cracks, and it is not cost-effective for small projects due to high costs of required equipment and mobilization (Frentress and Harrington 2012).



Figure 2.3 Milling head types (a) "V" Head, (b) Rounded head, and (c) Vertical edge head (Frentress and Harrington 2012)

2.1.4 Waterblast and Patch

The waterblast and patch method, or hydro-demolition, is a water jet technique used to remove the deteriorated concrete using a high-water pressure machine (15,000–30,000 psi), as shown in Figure 2.4. The water-blasting machine should have the ability to remove damaged concrete within an acceptable production rate. It is typically automated and has filtering and pumping units (Wilson et al. 1999). The advantages are that it does not require many crewmembers to operate, it only removes the weak concrete, and there is no need for hauling milled or chipped concrete residual. Moreover, it produces rough and irregular surfaces, enhancing the bond between the repair material and existing concrete. The disadvantages are that it leaves the surfaces saturated with water, which causes a delay in the placement of the repair material; environmental processing of the resulting fine slurry is necessary; it requires shields to protect concurrent traffic; it is difficult to control the depth and size of the removal concrete area; and the production rate can be reduced due to the presence of coarse aggregate in the jet path (Wilson et al. 1999).



Figure 2.4 Hydro-demolition procedure

2.2 The Construction Procedure of the Partial-depth Repair

The PDR construction procedure has some typical steps, which include removal of concrete, preparation of repair area, placement of patch material, and application of curing material. These steps are shown in Figure 2.5.



Figure 2.5 Construction steps of partial-depth repair for concrete bridge deck

2.3 Sustainability and Environment Assessment

2.3.1 Life cycle Assessment

Life cycle assessment (LCA) is a comprehensive "cradle-to-grave" approach commonly used for analyzing and assessing the environmental impacts of a product, system, or a service, considering its entire life cycle, from materials extraction, manufacturing, use, and maintenance until the end-of-life (EOL) disposition (Finkbeine et al. 2006). The U.S. EPA describes LCA as, "It can help avoid a narrow outlook on environmental concerns by compiling an inventory of relevant energy and material inputs and environmental releases, evaluating the potential impacts associated with identified inputs and releases, and making a more informed decision by interpreting the results" (EPA 2006). Balaguera et al. (2018) stated that the key features of LCA are: 1) it is an analytical approach, 2) it follows a step-by-step procedure, and 3) it considers the environmental impacts of a product or service in each life cycle stage. The international standards ISO 14040 and ISO 14044 provide the general specification for LCA processes and rules without detailed instructions for how to perform the LCA in practice (ISO 2006). However, these general standards have been developed by the relevant industries with specific guidance (Fava 2011). According to ISO 14040, the LCA has four phases: 1) the goal and scope definition phase, 2) the life cycle inventory (LCI) phase, 3) the life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) phase, and 4) the interpretation. These four phases are depicted in Figure 2.6. In LCA, a product or a service can be assessed by determining all of its inputs and outputs. For example, input can be material and output can be material waste. When those inventory flows have been quantified, the outcomes can be interpreted. Interpretation can show which phase of a product's life causes the most pollution and can show the environmental performance of the different systems under consideration (Hauschild 2018).



Figure 2.6 LCA phases according to ISO 14044 (ISO 2006)

LCA can be conducted through three various approaches: (1) process-based LCA, (2) input-output LCA, or (3) hybrid LCA. Each approach has its own advantages and limitations (Santero et al. 2011). A discussion of each is presented in the following sections.

2.3.1.1 Process-based LCA

Process LCA is an environmental approach quantifying the inputs and the outputs of each individual process within the life-cycle system boundary of a given product or service (Invim et al. 2016). In this approach, every environmental output released from individual processes in the product's or service's life cycle is analyzed and evaluated instead of assessing their environmental impacts. Practically, it is a bottom-up method to quantify the environmental impacts of a product or service. Santero and others (2011) stated that the process LCA approach was developed based on the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) and EPA approach; therefore, it is often referred to as the SETAC-EPA approach (Santero et al. 2011). The accuracy of this approach is determined based on the life cycle details of the product or service. As such, process LCA gives a straightforward and detailed process that analyzes specific product or service requirements. Meanwhile, each product or service has specific characteristics, which means conducting process LCA requires extensive data, time, and labor. Thus, process LCA is considered a time consuming and expensive approach, particularly in complex systems that have a massive number of processes (Jiang and Wu 2019). Additionally, there is a high possibility of excluding some inputs for upstream processes, which might have a serious effect on the entire process (Choi et al. 2016). A product or service supply chain is a continuous process depending, either directly or indirectly, upon other industrial sectors. Therefore, it is hard to examine an infinite upstream process leading to setting an arbitrary system boundary for process LCA analysis, which obviously will affect the results of the analysis. This is defined as a truncation error, and it might reach 50% in some analyses (Santero et al. 2011).

2.3.1.2 Input-Output LCA

Input-Output LCA (IO-LCA) is an environmental model based on an economic model input-output model developed in 1936 by Wassily Leontief, who was awarded the Nobel Prize in 1973 for this accomplishment. The model describes itself as an interdependency model due to its ability to quantify the

interrelationships across sectors of an economic system meanwhile defining the economic inputs. The economic model has been used for environmental impacts along with the supply chain processes (Choi et al. 2016). The IO-LCA is a top-down approach that comprises the entire supply chain of a product or a service in various environmental sectors. IO-LCA assesses all economic sectors by identifying the input flows of goods and services between distinct sectors to produce a unit of output from a given economic sector. The IO-LCA outputs include global warming potential (GWP), CO₂ emissions, and energy consumption (Inyim et al. 2016). The substantial advantage of IO-LCA over the process LCA approach is its ability to analyze entire supply chains without truncation error. Conversely, IO-LCA has other associated errors, which include: 1) uncertainties of basic source data due to data collection, 2) uncertainties due to input assumptions, 3) uncertainties of aggregation for input-output data over different producers and suppliers for products in the same industry (Lenzen 2001).

2.3.1.3 Hybrid LCA

Hybrid LCA is a combined approach for both Process LCA and IO-LCA approaches. Hybrid LCA applies input-output economic and environmental data relating to a specific process chain coupled with the product or service being investigated (Inyim et al. 2016). Hendrickson and others (2010) stated, "Process LCA and IO-LCA approaches are not rivals, but rather have comparative advantages. A hybrid analysis enhances the value of each approach to give better, more confident answers." Hence, hybrid LCA works to use the strength of the IO-LCA approach to fill the shortcomings of Process LCA. The two are used in sequence using process LCA to deal with direct processes and IO-LCA for the indirect processes. Santero et al. (2011) pointed out that the hybrid approach "exploits the primary strengths of process LCA (specificity) and IO-LCA (comprehensiveness) while minimizing the impact of truncation and aggregation errors that occur when using the two approaches independently." The hybrid LCA approach has recently become more widespread in environmental impact studies (Inyim et al. 2016).

2.3.2 Environmental Assessment of Bridge Rehabilitation Phase

In recent years, environmental assessment has become very important to the transportation sector and sustainability aspects have been increasingly investigated. The construction and rehabilitation of a road network is a carbon intensive process (Liu et al. 2014). Kucukvar and Tatari (2013) stated that the construction and maintenance activities of roads, highways, and bridges are major sources of environmental pollutants to air, water, and soil. Park et al. (2003) reported that the environmental emissions and energy consumption in the repair and maintenance stage are relatively high among the other life cycle stages. NOx, SO₂, CO₂ emissions in the maintenance and repair stage of a highway are 39.9% of total life cycle emissions (Park et al. 2003). In addition, bridge maintenance and repair activities cause a traffic disruption and lead to longer driving queues and increased driving distances (Zhang 2010). Chester and Horvath (2009) stated that the traffic disruption associated with road maintenance is a significant factor in environmental assessments (Chester and Horvath 2009). Rasdorf et al. (2015), estimating the air emissions released from heavy-duty diesel equipment used in highway construction project's scope, schedule, and budget by analyzing two case study projects.

The majority of sustainability and environmental assessment studies have focused on the building sector while relatively less attention has been given to the transportation sector (Zhang 2010) and all of the corresponding environmental impacts. Furthermore, these studies are more engaged in design and construction phases than maintenance and rehabilitation phases (Zhang et al. 2011). A Weiland and Muench (2010) study compared three repair alternatives to replace concrete pavement. The studied alternatives were to remove and replace with asphalt, remove and replace with concrete, and crack and seat with asphalt. The study results show that the replace with concrete option generated the highest amount of CO_2 emissions, meanwhile also stating its lifespan will be four years longer than other methods

(Weiland and Muench 2010). Chui et al. (2007) conducted an LCA study to evaluate the environmental impact of using different recycled materials to rehabilitate asphalt pavements. Three recycled materials (recycled hot mix asphalt, asphalt rubber, and glassphalt) and the traditional hot-mixed asphalt were compared. This study found that using both recycled hot mix asphalt and asphalt rubber could reduce the environmental impact by 23%; while glassphalt increases it by 19% (Chui et al. 2008). Yu and Lu (2011) compared environmental effects of three overlay systems, including Portland cement concrete (PCC) overlay, hot mixture asphalt (HMA) overlay, and crack, seat, and overlay (CSOL). The LCA study includes six modules: material, distribution, construction, congestion, usage, and EO. The study showed that the material module, congestion module, and usage module have high contribution to energy consumption and air pollutant emissions. Moreover, using the recycled materials reduces energy consumption compared with HMA options (Yu and Lu 2011).

2.4 Hydro-demolition/water Jet Technique

Water jet cutting technology has been dramatically improving over the last years. It is a non-traditional cutting process that uses the impacts of high water pressure to cut the materials with different strengths and thicknesses. The technology is widely used in the industry, and it has many applications and uses. In civil engineering, the high-pressure waterjet used for concrete removal is called the hydro-demolition technique (Lewis 1990). The hydro-demolition technique is an innovative technology widely used in rehabilitation of highway infrastructures (Bazanov 2019), and particularly in bridge deck rehabilitation where the preservation of the reinforcement steel is required and the damage is only in the upper concrete layer (Sitek et al. 2011). This technique is becoming increasingly common for partial-depth concrete removal of bridge deck repair (Roper 2018). Silfwerbrand (2009) stated that hydro-demolition is the best technique for concrete removal. Wenzlick (2002) argued that hydro-demolition does not cause damage to the unsounded concrete left in place compared with other conventional methods, such as jackhammering and milling, which can generate micro-fracturing in the surface of the concrete and can lead to premature loss of bond in the concrete patching or overlay material (Wenzlick 2002). Furthermore, the hydrodemolition technique has competitive operational advantages, including a dust-free, vibration-free, and heat-free construction zone (Momber 2001). McCabe (2014) highlights that hydro-demolition can be done in a directional manner, which means it has the selective concrete removal capability.

2.4.1 Influence Parameters of Hydro-demolition/water Jet

A standard water jet machine has a high-pressure pump, water supply unit, orifice, an abrasive system, mixing chamber system, and nozzle system, as shown in Figure 2.7.



Figure 2.7 Components of water jet

The parameters of the hydro-demolition process can be divided into hydraulic parameters and performance parameters. The hydraulic parameters describe the nozzle-pump-system such as the pressure, the flow rate, and the nozzle diameter. The performance parameters characterize the cutting process including the stand-off distance, traverse velocity, impact angle, number of passes, and the targeted material (Momber 2011; ElTobgy 2007). In the case of abrasive water jet usage, there are another two input parameters—the abrasive parameter and the mixing parameter—and the output parameters, which include cutting depth, cutting width, surface roughness, waviness, and removal rate of material (Xu 2006). Figure 2.8 shows the input and output parameters of the water jet process.

The hydro-demolition process is influenced by the variability of the parameters listed above. The efficiency and the quality of the cutting process is therefore a function of those parameters. Therefore, optimization of those parameters is essential for a successful water jet cutting. A detailed discussion about the effects of the most crucial parameters follows in the subsequent sections.



Figure 2.8 The input and output parameters of the water jet process

2.4.1.1 The effect of the water pressure

Many studies have investigated the relationship between water pressure and the cutting depth (Laurinat et al. 1992; Momber and Kovacevic 1997; Wang et al. 2002; Selvan et al. 2011). These studies indicate that the water pressure and the cutting depth have a direct proportional relationship, which means that increasing water pressure has a positive effect on the cutting depth. One experimental study conducted to examine the water jet cutting depth found that increasing water pressure is the most effective way to increase the cutting depth (Kovacevic 1992). This is explained because increasing the water pressure leads to an increase of the water velocity passing through the nozzle, as described by Bernoulli's equation (see Eq 2.1). This increased velocity has a higher energy impact, which results in deeper cutting. Researchers have noticed that, in ductile materials such as steel, the relationship between the water pressure and the cutting depth is a linear relationship (Anwar 2013), while in brittle materials, such as concrete, the relationship is non-linear (Momber and Kovacevic 1997).

$$V_w = \sqrt{\left(\frac{2P}{\rho}\right)} \qquad \qquad Eq. 2.1$$

Where: V_w : velocity of the watejet passing through the orifice, P: water pressure, ρ : water density.

2.4.1.2 The effect of the standoff distance

The standoff distance is the distance between the workpiece and the nozzle exit. Many studies have investigated the influence of the standoff distance, and it has been reported that the depth and width of the cutting are significantly influenced by changing the standoff distance (Kovacevic 1992). An increase of the standoff distance results in decreased cutting depth linearly due to the decrease in the transmitted

amount of energy to the targeted material surface. On the other hand, increasing the standoff distance increases the cutting width due to the divergence and widening of the water jet diameter, which increases the exposed area on the target material (Srinivasu et al. 2009).

2.4.1.3 The effect of the nozzle traverse velocity

The nozzle traverse velocity is one of the important cutting process variables that affects the cutting depth by controlling the exposure time of the water to the target material (Anwar 2013). The relation between the traverse velocity and the cutting depth is a negative and non-linear one, where the increase in traverse velocity decreases the cutting depth and material removal rate (Momber and Kovacevic 2012). The reason behind this relationship is because increasing the traverse velocity decreases the water and abrasive particles impacting the target material per unit time, which results in a reduction in the transferred kinetic energy to a specific position and limits the ability of the water to penetrate the target material (Momber and Kovacevic 2012).

2.4.1.4 The effect of the nozzle diameter

Previous studies have shown that the relationship between the nozzle diameter and the cutting depth is positively correlated. The cutting depth increases as the nozzle diameter increases (Momber and Kovacevic 2012). This trend is dominant with small-sized and medium-sized nozzle diameters (0.25 mm and 0.30 mm). However, with the large-sized nozzle diameter (0.40 mm), this effect is less significant (Jegaraj and Babu 2005).

2.4.1.5 The effect of the abrasive mass flow rate

Increasing the abrasive mass flow rate increases the cutting depth due to the increased number of abrasive particles hitting the target material per unit area. But this fact is only true at a given water pressure and for a low rate of abrasive mass flow (Momber and Kovacevic 1997). In contrast, at a high rate of abrasive mass flow, particles colliding in the mixing chamber and turbulence in the water jet leads to decreased cutting depth and material removal (Hashish 1992). In addition, the limited available kinetic energy of the water jet must be distributed over a larger number of particles and the results lead to a decrease in the kinetic energy for each single particle (Momber and Kovacevic 2012).

2.4.2 Water Jet Impacts on Concrete

Many experimental studies have been conducted to investigate the impacts of using high-pressure water on concrete and the influential parameters of using hydro-demolition techniques. Momber (2003) examined the erosion of cementitious composites such as concrete by high-speed water jets. The study showed specific characteristics of the nonlinear fracture behavior of the concrete, like micro-cracking, and as a result, the fracture parameter might be used to estimate the erosion resistance of the concrete. Yazdi and others studied the effects of the concrete removal techniques on the bonding between the repair mortar and substrate surfaces. The study revealed that removing concrete using the water jet technique with a pressure of 19,000 psi gave the roughest surface, while the jackhammering technique left the surface with significant micro-cracks (Yazdi et al. 2020). An experimental study has compared the cutting of concrete using a continuous water jet and modulated/pulsed water jet (Sitek et al. 2003). The study concluded that the pulsed jet cutting was deeper in general. The cutting depth in concrete by pulsed jet was approximately 1.5 times larger than that using a continuous jet. This is because the continuous jet has stagnation pressure with low dynamic factor impacts, while the pulsed jet has intensive fatigue stress impacts on the targeted material (Sitek et al. 2003). Similarly, Foldyna et al. (2017) tested continuous and pulsing jets on concrete composite carbon nanotubes (CNT). The study findings indicate that CNT concrete does not have any significant difference compared with normal PCC regarding their physical and mechanical properties. On the other hand, CNT concrete shows higher resistance when impacted by either continuous jet or pulsing jet (Foldyna et al. 2017). Zhao and Wu (2004) conducted an experimental study on mixed abrasive and high-pressure water jet cutting of concrete.

Two abrasive materials and three kinds of concrete with different pressure-resistance intensities were studied. The study examined the impacts of the standoff distance, jet pressure, and velocity on the cutting depth. In addition, the effect of the jet moving velocity on the cutting surface was investigated. The study found that the abrasive material has some lashing energy that has a positive impact during the cutting process; the strength of the concrete is an influential factor on the cutting depth, and the jet moving velocity had some effects on the concrete surface appearance (Zhao and Wu 2004).

Other researchers investigated the effects of changing the abrasive concentration (10% to 20%) on the jets' performance using the smooth particle hydrodynamics (SPH) method and finite element analysis (FEA) simulations to model for abrasive jet impacted concrete. The results showed that the cutting rate, cutting depth, and the internal energy of concrete tend to increase relative to the abrasive concentration (Liu et al. 2019). Liu et al. (2017) analyzed the stress state in concrete under the impact of high-pressure water jets at different times. Moreover, the paper measured the damage rate along the radial direction of the water jet (Liu et al. 2017). For this purpose, a 3-D simulation model was built and verified using experimental and theoretical analysis. The study found that the damage shape of concrete develops faster along the radial direction of the water jet, and it evolves from a small diameter cylinder to a funnel and becomes a large diameter cylinder (Liu et al. 2017). In addition, Liu et al. (2021) evaluated the propagation of cracks in concrete with pre-cracks under water jet impacts. The results show that the existing pre-cracks led to developing cracks in all directions and increased the penetration dimension compared with normal PCC (Liu et al. 2021).

2.5 Summary

This chapter provides a comprehensive literature review of the relevant research and studies of the partialdepth concrete removal techniques of bridge decks and the environmental assessment of using those techniques. The beginning of the chapter presents a brief overview of the PDR techniques of a concrete bridge deck. The main partial-depth concrete removal methods are saw and patch method, chip and patch method, mill and patch, and water-blast and patch method. Moreover, the review shows the advantages and disadvantages of each technique.

A detailed summary of the sustainability and environmental assessment of the past bridge rehabilitation phase has been conducted, and it indicates the research gaps that must be filled. Most of the studies have focused on the material and construction phases while the rehabilitation and maintenance phase has been neglected. Few studies considered bridge deck replacement based on comparisons among different alternatives, and none of these studies investigated minor concrete rehabilitation such as crack sealing and PDR.

At the end of this chapter, water jet technology and its advantages were briefly reviewed. This was followed by the input and output parameters of the water jet process, in addition to the effect of those parameters on water jet performance. A detailed review of previous studies focused on using water jet technology in the concrete industry was provided. The existing studies are limited to investigating and analyzing the water jet impact on concrete behavior. Few studies focused on studying the impacts of a water jet in terms of the cutting depth, the material removal rate, and the cutting time. Furthermore, none of the existing studies examine the impacts of the water jet on different strengths of concrete and the change of the water jet parameters in that case.

3. AIR EMISSION OF DIFFERENT PARTIAL-DEPTH CONCRETE BRIDGE DECK REPAIR TECHNIQUES: A COMPARATIVE STUDY

3.1 Introduction

In recent years, environmental assessment has become very important to the transportation sector and sustainability aspects have been increasingly investigated. The construction and rehabilitation of a road network is a carbon intensive process (Liu et al. 2014). Kosovar and Tatari (2013) stated that the construction and maintenance activities of roads, highways, and bridges are major sources of environmental pollutants, including air, water, and soil. In general, the transportation sector is the secondlargest emissions contributor after the building sector (Liu et al. 2014). The EPA reported that the transportation sector accounts for nearly 28% of U.S greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, making it the largest contributor to GHG emissions. From 1990 to 2018, GHG emissions from the transportation sector increased rapidly when compared with other sectors (EPA 2020). Bridges, as fundamental structures, play an essential role within the highway transportation network and over the entire transportation sector. Most bridges were built during the late 1950s through the early 1970s. In 2019, there were more than 600,000 bridges in the United States (BTS 2019). Increasing population, increasing traffic, changing codes, and safety standards mean there is a frequent need to strengthen, repair, or replace certain structural components of bridges. According to the American Road and Transportation Builders Association, one of three U.S bridges in service require either repair or deck replacement (ARTBA 2021). Note that the total in-service bridge deck area is 4 billion square feet, and almost 5% of this bridge deck area is categorized as having a poor conditions rating. This equates to approximately 230 million square feet of bridge deck in need of either repair or replacement (BTS 2019). The rapid increase of construction and maintenance activities raises many concerns from the public, governmental authorities, and stakeholders about the sustainability and environmental performance of these activities, which has led to the growing interest to minimize their impacts on the environment. Park and others (2003) reported that the emissions and energy consumption in the repair and maintenance stage are relatively high among the other life cycle stages. NOx, SO₂, CO₂ emissions in the maintenance and repair stage of highways are 39.9% of total life cycle emissions (Park et al. 2003). In addition, bridge maintenance and repair activities cause traffic disruptions and lead to longer driving queues and increased driving distances (Zhang 2010). Chester and Horvath (2009) stated that the traffic disruptions associated with road maintenance are a significant factor in an environmental assessment (Chester and Horvath 2009).

The life cycle of bridges is divided into four phases: material manufacture, construction, use and maintenance, and demolition/end life (Du and Karoumi 2014). The majority of the sustainability and environmental assessment studies have focused on the material manufacture and construction phases while relatively less attention has been given to the use and maintenance phase (Zhang et al. 2011). Maintenance and rehabilitation activities are commonly addressed from an economic perspective without taking into consideration the environmental impacts of this stage (Alam et al. 2019). Li et al. (2019) studied the environmental impacts of air emissions of a highway project located in China and found that the maintenance phase has 1.7% of the emissions compared with other life cycle phases (Li et al. 2019). Alam et al. (2019) compared four different maintenance techniques of asphalt pavement, including patching, rout and sealing, hot in-place recycling, and cold in-place recycling to assess the environmental impacts of each technique. The study indicated that patching and hot in-place methods have higher environmental impacts compared with the rout and sealing and cold in-place techniques (Alam et al. 2019). Weiland and Muench (2010) compared three repair alternatives to replace concrete pavement. The suggested alternatives include remove and replace with asphalt, remove and replace with concrete, and crack and seat with asphalt. The study result shows that the replace-with-concrete option generated the highest amount of CO₂ emissions (Weiland and Muench 2010). In addition, Rasdorf et al. (2015) estimated the air emissions released from heavy-duty diesel equipment used in highway construction projects and found the relationships between the air emissions and the highway construction project

scope, schedule, and budget by analyzing two case study projects (Rasdorf et al. 2015). Note that most of the environmental studies related to maintenance and rehabilitation of concrete roads and bridges have not considered minor concrete rehabilitation such as crack sealing and partial-depth repair (PDR) (Wang and Gangaram 2014). Similar to pavement repair, partial-depth bridge deck repair is a commonly used approach to replace deteriorated concrete that is located in the upper one-third of a bridge deck. In this approach, only those areas on the bridge deck that have deterioration are removed down to a partial amount of the total bridge deck. The resulting patches are then filled with new concrete materials. This method requires the use of equipment to remove the deteriorated concrete patches, which results in pollutant emissions. Construction and maintenance equipment and transportation vehicles, both on-road and non-road, are sources of air emissions due to the burning of fossil fuels by their engines (Rasdorf et al. 2015). Any engine that burns carbonaceous fuel is producing a net amount of carbon dioxide (CO₂). Additionally, vehicles and equipment powered by diesel engines generate other emissions, including carbon monoxide (CO), nitrogen oxides (NOx), particulate matter (PM10), hydrocarbons (HC), and a small amount of sulfur dioxide (SO₂) (Lewis et al. 2009). Such air pollution emissions have significant negative effects on natural ecosystems, climate, and human health (Marco et al. 2019).

The objective of this study is to compare four partial concrete repair methods to identify the least environmental impact removal technique used for partial-depth bridge deck repair. The environmental comparison is conducted by estimating the air pollutant emissions from construction equipment and transportation vehicles used in each removal method. This study contributes to the analysis of life-cycle sustainability of bridges with the specific objective to reduce air pollutant emissions due to bridge maintenance activities. Previous studies only consider the time of construction. No study could be found that included a combination of methods coupled with their environmental impact. Improving the entire life-cycle sustainability of bridges can only be achieved by reducing the environmental impacts of the life cycle components, including maintenance. This study aims to reduce the pollutant emissions of one commonly used maintenance and life cycle extension method for bridge structures.

3.2 Research Methodology

In this study, four different partial-depth concrete removal methods for a bridge deck have been compared by means of environmental assessment. The study estimates the emissions of CO₂, CO, NOx, SO₂, and PM10 that are associated with construction equipment and transportation vehicles used in each method. The removal process steps and the equipment required for each method in this study are shown in Figure 3.1. The construction procedure of PDR has been previously discussed in Section 2.2 of this study.



Figure 3.1 Process and equipment of concrete removal methods

The main data sources in this study are two environmental models: the Greenhouse Gases, Regulated Emissions, and Energy Use in Transportation (GREET) model, and the U.S. EPA's Motor Vehicle Emission Simulator (MOVES) model. GREET is a tool developed at Argonne National Laboratory to analyze the life-cycle impacts of vehicle fuels, products, and energy systems (Wang et al. 2018). The GREET model can determine the total energy consumption, air emissions, greenhouse gas emissions, and water consumption for on-road vehicular transportation (Wang et al. 2018). In this study, version 2019 of GREET is utilized. The EPA's MOVES model is designed to estimate air emissions from mobile sources. It estimates the exhaust and evaporative emissions from all types of on-road vehicles and non-road equipment (EPA 2019).

This section identifies the vehicles and emissions for equipment commonly used in partial-depth bridge deck repair. Table 3.1 shows two on-road vehicles commonly used: a dump truck and a vacuum truck and their GREET model categorization (Wang et al. 2018).

Equipment	Typical equipment	GREET model category	Fuel used
Dump truck	Ford-F750, 5–6-yard diesel payload capacity (17,300 lb)	HD truck: combination short-haul-LS diesel	Low-sulfur diesel
Vacuum truck	Rampart Vacuum Truck	HD truck: combination short-haul-LS diesel	Low-sulfur diesel

 Table 3.1 GREET model for on-road vehicles

The emission factor data for these on-road vehicles are obtained from the GREET model database. The dump truck and vacuum truck are the only trucks used in this study. Based on GREET model categories, both are classified as HD trucks: combination short-haul CIDI-RDII 100 from Distributed Conventional Petroleum Refinery. Table 3.2 shows the emission factors of CO₂, CO, NOx, SO₂, and PM10 expressed in grams/mile (g/mile) for the vehicles listed in Table 3.1.

Equipment	CO ₂ emission rate (g/mile)	CO emission rate (g/mile)	NO _x emission rate (g/mile)	SO ₂ emission rate (g/mile)	PM ₁₀ emission rate (g/mile)
Dump truck	2,280.00	0.92	2.04	0.40	0.84
Vacuum truck	2,280.00	0.92	2.04	0.40	0.84

Table 3.2 Emission factors for on-road vehicles

Emissions data for all non-road equipment are obtained from the EPA's MOVES2014b model. The model provides emissions factors for ranges of horsepower, so an estimate of the engine horsepower is made for each type of construction equipment.

Table 3.3 shows what equipment is used with the rated horsepower and the MOVES2014b NONROAD category used to approximate that equipment's emission factors. The remaining equipment is operated by electrical power. It is assumed for this study that electrically powered equipment does not create any air pollution emissions during concrete bridge deck repair. Examples of such equipment are the jackhammer/concrete breaker HILTI-TE 1000-AVR and the water-blasting machine Conjet robot 327. The pollutant emissions for this equipment are accounted for by the generator, which provides the electricity for this equipment.

Equipment	Typical equipment	Horsepower (hp) rating	MOVES2014b model category
Concrete saw	EDCO SS-26 31D	31	Concrete/industrial saws $(25 < hp \le 40)$
Skid steer	CAT skid steer- 216B3	51	Skid steer loaders ($50 < hp \le 75$)
Air compressor	XATS 138 compressor	65	Air compressor ($50 < hp \le 75$)
Generator	Generac 6864, 5000 running watts	7	Generator sets ($6 < hp \le 11$)
Milling machine	SCHIBECI-RM350	200	175 HP crushing/proc. equipment $(100 < hp \le 350)$
Generator	Generac 16 KW	21.5	Generator set $(16 < hp \le 25)$
Pump	HAMMELMANN- power pack20	315	$Pump (300 < hp \le 600)$

Table 3.3 MOVES2014b model non-road equipment

Table 3.4 shows the emission factors of CO₂, CO, NOx, SO₂, and PM10 expressed in g/hr for the non-road equipment listed in Table 3.3.

Equipment	CO ₂ emission rate (g/hr)	CO emission rate (g/hr)	NOx emission rate (g/hr)	SO ₂ emission rate (g/hr)	PM ₁₀ emission rate (g/hr)
Concrete saw	18,970.50	317.52	28.89	0.12	1.93
Skid steer	8,399.99	792.23	62.62	0.14	2.13
Generator	2,128.59	11.52	16.69	0.02	1.46
Air compressor	15,411.22	23.42	83.16	0.12	3.31
Milling machine	55,082.78	23.78	98.64	0.22	3.74
Pump	90,701.15	141.54	444.69	0.74	21.90
Generator	5,391.15	18.80	39.13	0.05	2.48

 Table 3.4 Emission factors for non-road equipment

Note that MOVES2014b and GREET do not give the total air emissions directly. Instead, they give the emission factors, which the EPA defines as "A representative value that attempts to relate the quantity of a pollutant released to the atmosphere with an activity associated with the release of that pollutant. These factors are usually expressed as the weight of pollutant divided by a unit weight, volume, distance, or duration of the activity emitting the pollutant" (EPA 2019). MOVES2014b provides a general equation with emission factors to estimate the air emission, as shown in Equation (1) (EPA 2019).

$$E = A x EF x \left(1 - \frac{ER}{100}\right)$$
(1)

where: E = air emissions gram, A = activity rate hour, EF = emission factor gram/hr., and ER = overall emission reduction efficiency (%).

The equation shows that air emission (E) is equal to the activity rate (A) of this equipment multiplied by emission factor (EF), multiplied by the percentage of the emission reduction (ER). Emission (E) is the amount of any type of pollutant emitted by a process or equipment with units of mass per time such as gram per hour. Activity rate (A) is the productivity rate of the equipment, and it is expressed in units per time such as cubic feet per hour. The emission factor (EF) is the most important variable in the equation, and it takes time to develop in different ways, such as using the MOVES2014b model. It is expressed in terms of mass per time, such as grams per hour. The last term in the equation is the emission reduction efficiency, which reflects the emission control efficiency of the equipment itself, and for simplification it has been neglected in this study.

3.3 Case Study Analysis

3.3.1 Case Description

This case study is modeled based on a PDR project of Utah SR-193 bridge over US-89 (Structure Number 0F 575) located in Layton, Utah. The SR-193 bridge is a concrete bridge built in 1995 with a total length of 178.5 feet and a 65.3-ft width (https://bridgereports.com/1570708). The total surface area of the repaired patches is 3,946 square feet and the average removal depth is 3 inches. A table and map of repair area are provided in Appendix A (Maguire et al. 2021).

3.3.2 Equipment Designation

This section outlines the emissions specific to the equipment used in the removal of the concrete patches in the partial bridge deck repair process.

3.3.2.1 Concrete saw

In the saw-cut method, a diesel-powered concrete saw is the main equipment utilized. The saw is used to outline the deteriorated concrete patch boundaries. For this study, a concrete saw model EDCO SS-26 31D is utilized for the analysis. This model of saw has a 31-hp engine with a productivity rate of 800 linear feet per hour (Wang et al. 2016). The total linear saw cut length is equal to 2,402 linear feet. Using this cutting length and an additional 25% for uncertainty, the total saw utilization time is 3.75 hours. Using Equation (1) and emission factors from Table 3.4, the emissions released by using a concrete saw can be estimated as seen in Table 3.6.

3.3.2.2 Skid steer

After the concrete in a patch is broken up, the resulting pieces are removed from the site and loaded onto a truck with a small front loader typically referred to as a skid steer. A Caterpillar skid steer-216B3 is the equipment designated in this study to perform this task. The Caterpillar 216B3 has a 51-hp engine and can load 978 cubic feet of material per hour working at 75% efficiency (London 2017). At this rate, it would take 1.48 hours for a skid steer to load the total project's amount of 1,086 cubic feet of removal concrete. Considering that the amount will not be removed at the same time, a 25% increase factor is added for the required time, resulting in a total time of 1.85 hours. Using Equation (1) and the emission factors from Table 3.4, the emissions released from the skid steer are calculated and shown in Table 3.6.

3.3.2.3 Air compressor

During the demolition of the deteriorated concrete patches, concrete debris is generated, which results in concrete and aggregate waste in a variety of sizes. The larger pieces are removed by hand while the dust and small pieces are blown away with an air compressor. For this activity, a XATS 138 compressor is designated to be used. The compressor has a 65-hp engine with a 11,654 cf/hour productivity rate working at 75% efficiency (Copco 2017). At this rate, considering a 25% increase factor due to discontinuous use, the air compressor's required time of use is calculated to be 0.16 hours. Using Equation (1) and the emission factors from Table 3.4, the emissions released from the air compressor are calculated and shown in Table 3.6.

3.3.2.4 Generator

A generator is used to provide electricity to the jackhammer in the chip and patch method and for the water blasting machine in the waterblast and patch method. Two types of the generator are used with different productivity rates. The Generac 6864 generator is designated to operate the jackhammer HILTI-TE 1000-AVR (Generac 2016). Generac 6864 has a 7-hp engine and requires the same utilization time as

the jackhammer. A 25% increase factor is added for time uncertainty due to discontinuous use. This results in a total usage time of 82.32 hours. A Generac 16 KW generator is designated to run the water blasting machine Conjet robot 327 and the vacuum. It has a 21.5-hp engine (Generac 2018) and its working time is taken as the same as the water blasting machine. A total time of 44.85 hours is calculated. Using Equation (1) and the emission factors from Table 3.4, the emissions released from the generator are calculated and shown in Table 3.6.

3.3.2.5 Milling machine

In the mill and patch method, a milling machine is used to remove the deteriorated concrete. For this study, a SCHIBECI-RM350 is used. The milling machine is approximated using the crushing/process equipment from the MOVES2014b MODEL. This equipment has a 200-hp engine and can remove 137 square feet of material per hour (SCHIBECI 2018). In the concrete case, it has a designated efficiency of 70%. The required time to remove the total concrete surface area of 3,946 square feet with 25% added time for uncertainty is determined to be 51.44 hours. Using Equation (1) and the emission factors from Table 3.4, the emissions released from the milling machine are calculated and shown in Table 3.6.

3.3.2.6 Pump

One of the main pieces of equipment in the waterblast and patch method is the water pump. The water pump is used to pump water with high pressure from a water source to the water blasting machine. In this study, HAMMELMANN Power Pack 20 with a 315-hp engine is used (HAMMELMANN 2017). The pump is expected to work the same amount of time as the water blasting machine. The water blasting machine Conjet robot 327 removes an average of 110 square surface feet per hour (Conjet 2018). This results in a required time of 44.85 hours, accounting for a 25% increase factor for uncertainty. Using Equation (1) and the emission factors from Table 3.4, the emissions released from the pump are calculated and shown in Table 3.6.

3.3.2.7 Dump truck

The broken concrete from each patch is removed from the work site via a dump truck. The waste material is loaded into the truck via skid steer, and then needs to be transported to a dumpsite or a location where it can be processed for other uses. It is assumed that the distance of this disposal site is 10 miles away from the job site. This might be an underestimate for many construction sites but is more accurate for a site in or close to an urban population. The density of a typical concrete bridge deck is 150 pounds per cubic foot. This means that the weight of removed concrete is approximately 162,986 pounds, which is divided by the 17,300-lb payload capacity of the truck; requiring 10 total round trips and a total distance traveled of 200 miles with a 60 mph average driving speed. The total calculated time is 4.17 hours with 25% additional time for uncertainty. This task is accomplished using an HD truck that is a combination short haul CIDI-RDII 100 from the Distributed Conventional Petroleum Refinery in the GREET model. Using Equation (1) and the emission factors from Table 3.2, the emissions released from the dump truck are calculated and shown in Table 3.6.

3.3.2.8 Vacuum truck

Water blasting requires the use of a vacuum truck to clean up waste materials post demolition. The working hours are taken as the same as the water blasting machine's 44.85 hours. The truck reaches its capacity after 1.5 hours of water blasting machine work. As such, the truck will reach its full capacity five times. Once the truck is full, it has to stop working and leave the site to dump the wastewater. Assuming the dumping area is five miles away, the truck will travel a total of 300 miles. This task is also represented using an HD truck: combination short-haul CIDI-LS diesel from the GREET model. Using Equation (1) and the emission factors from Table 3.2, the emissions released from the vacuum truck are calculated and shown in Table 3.6. Note here that the calculations included in this study do not include the

environmental impact of treating the wastewater. This is a viable assumption if the wastewater is disposed of in a settling tank and allowed to evaporate. As such, only the remaining concrete waste is left and no wastewater treatment is required.

3.3.3 Utilization Time

Time is an important factor when comparing different bridge deck removal techniques. The time for each concrete removal method is estimated based on the utilization time of each piece of equipment used in that method, and the equipment working time is calculated based on the productivity rate of the equipment with 25% added time for uncertainty due to discontinuous use, as explained previously in Section 4.2. Of note is that the generators are used to supply power to the electrical equipment such as jackhammer and water-blasting machine. For the purpose of this study, it is assumed that the generators are in use for the same amount of time as the electrical equipment. As such, the demolition time for the electrical equipment is calculated, and that time is then taken as the generator running time. Table 3.5 shows the total removal time for each removal method. Note that the waterblast method is the fastest method, while the saw and patch method requires the most time.

Saw and patch method		Chip and patch method		Mill and patch method		Waterblast and patch method	
Equipment	Time (hours)	Equipment	Time (hours)	Equipment	Time (hours)	Equipment	Time (hours)
Concrete saw	3.75	Jackhammer*	82.32	Milling machine	51.44	Water- blasting machine*	27.41
Jackhammer*		Generator		Skid steer	1.85	Generator	27.41
Generator	82.32	Skid steer	1.85	Air compressor	0.16	Pump	
Skid steer	1.85	Air compressor	0.16	Dump truck	4.17	Vacuum truck	6.25
Air compressor	0.16	Dump truck	4.17				
Dump truck	4.17						
Total (hours) =	92.24	Total (hours) =	88.49	Total (hours) =	57.61	Total (hours) =	33.66

Table 3.5 The removal time of each removal method

* Electrical power equipment time used to calculate generator run time.

3.4 Results and Discussion

Table 3.6 shows the different quantities of emissions produced for the multiple techniques used for concrete removal that are evaluated in this study. The emissions evaluated include CO_2 , CO, NOx, SO_2 , and PM10 measured in grams. Comparing the different techniques, the results indicate that the milling method generates the highest CO_2 emission amount, which in total is 5,756 kg. The main contribution of this high emission is related to the milling machine, which is powered by diesel fuel and has a 200-hp engine. Meanwhile, the water-blasting technique is ranked second in releasing CO_2 , but it is the highest in terms of other released air pollutant emissions. In contrast, the table illustrates that the chip and patch method had the lowest air emissions. In the chipping method, the electric jackhammer is used as the main demolition equipment. The jackhammer is powered by electricity and does not emit any air pollution. As
seen, the chipping method produces 649 kg of CO_2 , which is considered significantly low as compared with the amount of CO_2 released from milling and water-blasting methods. The last concrete removal technique is the saw and patch method, which can be ranked as the second-lowest generator of air emissions. Note that applying the saw and patch method includes the same equipment and vehicles used in the chip and patch method except it includes an extra piece of equipment, the concrete saw. The concrete saw has a 31-hp engine and is powered by diesel. The saw is categorized as small equipment and increases the amount of CO_2 produced for the assumed project by 71 kg. This amount is the difference between the total CO_2 emission from the saw and patch method, which is 720 kg, and the total CO_2 emission from the chip and patch method. which is 649 kg.

Method	Equipment	CO ₂ (kg)	CO (kg)	NO _X (kg)	SO ₂ (kg)	PM ₁₀ (kg)
	Concrete saw	71.139	1.191	0.108	0.0005	0.007
Saw and	Jackhammer	-	-	-	-	-
	Skid steer	15.540	1.466	0.116	0.0003	0.004
patch	Air compressor	2.466	0.004	0.013	0.0000	0.001
method	Dump truck	456.000	0.184	0.408	0.0800	0.168
	Generator	175.226	0.948	1.374	0.0017	0.120
	Total emissions (kg) =	720.371	3.792	2.019	0.0824	0.300
	Jackhammer	-	-	-	-	-
	Skid steer	15.540	1.466	0.116	0.0003	0.004
Chip and	Air compressor	2.466	0.004	0.013	0.0000	0.001
method	Dump truck	456.000	0.184	0.408	0.0800	0.168
	Generator	175.226	0.948	1.374	0.0017	0.120
	Total emissions (kg) =	649.231	2.602	1.911	0.0819	0.293
	Milling machine	5,282.439	2.281	9.460	0.0211	0.359
Mill and	Skid steer	15.540	1.466	0.116	0.0003	0.004
patch	Air compressor	2.466	0.004	0.013	0.0000	0.001
method	Dump truck	456.000	0.184	0.408	0.0800	0.168
	Total emissions (kg) =	5,756.444	3.934	9.997	0.1014	0.531
	Water-blasting machine	-	-	-	-	-
Waterblast	Generator	147.771	0.515	1.073	0.0014	0.068
and patch	Pump	2,486.119	3.880	12.189	0.0203	0.600
method	Vacuum truck	684.000	0.276	0.612	0.1200	0.252
	Total emissions (kg) =	3,317.890	4.671	13.874	0.1417	0.921

Table 3.6 Air pollutant emissions calculations by removal methods

Figure 3.2 presents the total pollutant emissions from the four different concrete removal methods in logarithmic scale. The amount of CO_2 emitted using the milling method is the largest compared with the other methods followed by the water-blasting method, the chipping method, and the sawing method in decreasing order. Furthermore, the amount of CO_2 is significantly larger than CO, NO_X, SO₂, and PM10 emissions in all removal methods. With respect to CO, it can be seen that using the water-blasting method generates the highest CO amount, followed by the milling method, then the saw and patch method, and

finally the chip and patch method. Meanwhile, the distribution of NOx and PM10 is similar to CO distribution in terms of ranking but with a different amount for each of them by each method. Using any removal method generates approximately the same amount of SO₂.



Figure 3.2 Total emissions of each removal technique

Table 3.7 presents an environmental weighted ranking for the four removal methods in order to identify the best overall method. The table shows the rank based on the amount of each released emission from the lowest to the highest amount. The emission from each method and type of pollutant is ranked from one to four, where one represents the lowest amount of the emission while four represents the highest amount of emission. The total summation of the numbers is divided by four (the total number of different pollutants considered) to give a weighted representative number for each method. The table indicates that the methods, ranked from a friendlier environmental perspective (in increasing order), are the chipping method, sawing method, water-blasting method, and lastly the milling method.

Method	CO^2	СО	NOx	SO^2	PM ¹⁰	Ranking
Saw and patch method	2	2	2	3	2	2.2
Chip and patch method	1	1	1	2	1	1.2
Mill and patch method	4	3	3	4	3	3.4
Waterblast and patch method	3	4	4	1	4	3.2

Table 3.7 Environmental weighted ranking for the removal techniques

Table 3.8 shows the total emissions released per hour for each concrete removal method. It indicates that the emission rates could have effects on the ranking of the methods if they are considered. Because some removal methods take more time, there is direct correlation to the increase in emissions. This result is of interest because in addition to reducing emissions, reducing the preparation time is also of interest to practitioners. The table shows that the chipping method is the lowest released emission method per hour while the milling method is the highest released emission method.

Method	CO ₂ (kg)	CO (kg)	NOx (kg)	SO ₂ (kg)	PM ₁₀ (kg)	Total emission (kg)	Total time (hr)	kg/hr
Saw and patch method	720.371	3.792	2.019	0.0824	0.300	726.565	92.24	7.88
Chip and patch method	649.231	2.602	1.911	0.0819	0.293	654.119	88.49	7.39
Mill and patch method	5,756.444	3.934	9.998	0.101	0.531	5,771.008	57.61	100.17
Waterblast and patch method	3,317.890	4.671	13.874	0.142	0.921	3,337.497	33.66	99.15

Table 3.8 Total emissions rate (kilogram per hour)

Another means of evaluating the most sustainable removal method is to express the total emissions per cubic feet of removal concrete for each method. This evaluation is shown in Table 3.9. The removal concrete volume is 1,087 cubic feet in total for this study per patch. The total summation of the five emissions released from each method is divided by the total removal concrete volume to give the emission rate in grams per cubic feet. This information is useful is approximating the emissions for other projects where a known amount of concrete is to be removed.

Method	CO ₂ (kg)	CO (kg)	NOx (kg)	SO ₂ (kg)	PM ₁₀ (kg)	Total emission (kg)	Total removal concrete (ft ³)	kg/ft ³
Saw and patch method	720.371	3.792	2.019	0.0824	0.300	726.565	1,086.57	0.67
Chip and patch method	649.231	2.602	1.911	0.0819	0.293	654.119	1,086.57	0.60
Mill and patch method	5,756.444	3.934	9.998	0.101	0.531	5,771.008	1,086.57	5.31
Waterblast and patch method	3,317.890	4.671	13.874	0.142	0.921	3,337.497	1,086.57	3.07

Table 3.9 The total emissions per cubic feet of removal concrete (kilogram per cubic foot)

3.5 Impacts of Repair Method on Traffic

Maintenance and rehabilitation activities of the roads frequently require lane closures, which cause an increase in traffic crashes and delays due to capacity reduction of the loads. The decrease is due to fewer traffic lanes, narrower lanes, and construction zone speed limits (Schrank at el. 2019). For example, in Utah, the average capacity of one lane is 560 vehicles/hour at 65 miles/hour (Mashhadi and Rashidi 2021). The impact of using the four different PDR methods is evaluated by calculating the traffic delays due to one lane closure, as shown in Table 3.10. In general, the results indicate that the method that requires more time causes more traffic delays and has more negative impacts on the traffic. For example, using the saw and patch method causes traffic delay for 51,654 vehicles while using the hydro-demolition method causes traffic delay for 18,850 vehicles. The difference between using those two methods is significant. Therefore, the decision-makers at UDOT should consider the impact of using each PDR method to minimize traffic congestion and delay.

Method	Required time (hour)	Average lane capacity vehicle/hour	Total traffic delay (vehicle)
Saw and patch method	92.24	560	51,654
Chip and patch method	88.49	560	49,554
Mill and patch method	57.61	560	32,262
Waterblast and patch method	33.66	560	18,850

Table 3.10 Traffic delays

3.6 Conclusion

In this study, the environmental assessment of different concrete removal techniques for partial-depth repair of a concrete bridge deck is conducted using comparative analysis to identify the most sustainable method. The methods are evaluated from an environmental perspective by estimating the air pollutant emissions from each method. Five air pollutant emissions of CO₂, CO, NOx, SO₂, and PM10 are estimated by employing the MOVES2014b and GREET models. The results showed that the milling technique produces the largest quantity of emissions. The chipping method generated the lowest quantity of emissions. CO₂ is produced in large quantities among all techniques while SO₂ is the smallest compared with other pollutants. Additionally, the results indicated that the amount of air emissions are increasing relative to the utilization time of the removal technique.

The results of the study are significant in that they can be used to help state and local transportation officials develop removal standards that include sustainable practices. Obviously, the sustainability of the removal technique is just one piece of information that goes into the decision-making process, but by utilizing the information in this study, better environmental policies and standards can be developed. The values for emissions per cubic foot can also be used to estimate emissions for larger projects for which environmental offsets can be made. Also note that the estimated removal times can help transportation officials determine the best methods, as the goal in partial-depth replacement is typically to re-open the travel lanes to traffic as soon as possible.

4. IMPROVED REMOVAL EFFICIENCY OF PARTIAL BRIDGE DECK REPAIR PATCHES USING THE SAW AND PATCH METHOD

4.1 Introduction

The saw-and-patch removal method is considered the primary and the most frequently used method for partial-depth concrete bridge deck repair (Frentress and Harrington 2012). The procedure of the saw and patch method begins with using a diamond blade saw to cut the perimeter of the patch area to a certain required depth. Then a light jackhammer with an impact force of 10 to 35 pounds is used to chip out the deteriorated concrete inside the patch area (Smith et al. 2014). Using this method gives a rough concrete surface which strengthens the bonds between the existing concrete and the newly placed repair material. In addition, most construction crews are familiar with the saw and patch method (Frentress and Harrington 2012). A Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) study determined that the saw and patch method is cost-effective (Wilson et al. 1999) and has advantages over other removal techniques in terms of accessibility to the small and isolated areas of deteriorated concrete on the bridge deck where large equipment used in the other removal methods cannot access (Vorster et al. 1992). The saw and patch method can remove irregular concrete patches and effectively remove concrete under, between, and around steel reinforcement bars (Ramcharitar 2005). The major concerns about the saw and patch method are the required time and labor to remove the deteriorated concrete patches. As such, it is a timeconsuming and labor-intensive method (Smith et al. 2014). Consequently, a significant amount of time is still spent on the removal of damaged and deteriorated bridge deck patches. During the repairing time, one or more bridge lanes are closed, which causes many traffic problems and travel delays.

A recent comparative study estimated the utilization time required to remove deteriorated concrete for a partial-depth bridge repairing project with a total removal volume of approximately 990 ft³ (Abu Shanab and Sorensen 2022). In the study, the removal time is calculated based on the equipment used for four different methods, including saw and patch, chip and patch, milling and patch, and hydro-demolition. The results indicate that saw and patch is the slowest method, and it requires more time compared with the other removal techniques. This suggests that when a bridge is repaired using the saw and patch method, the time closure increases, which causes traffic congestion and increases car crash vulnerability because the available lanes are not sufficient for the traffic demand (ASCE 2021). Therefore, there is a need for foundational research on methods to reduce the saw and patch method concrete removal time. Along with that, the labor-intensive process could be more efficient if part of it can be automated. The present study investigates methods to reduce the removal time and identify methods that can easily be automated for additional future studies. In 2017, the Missouri Department of Transportation conducted a study about the best current practices of partial-depth repair (PDR) and concrete removal techniques. The study discusses case studies from many U.S states including California, Georgia, Minnesota, Missouri, Utah, and Washington. The states' PDR procedures and specifications have evolved over many years to become more efficient for long-term bridge deck performance. One of the main aspects to achieve that is the selection of the proper concrete removal techniques and equipment. Traditionally, saw and patch has been the most common method used for removing the bridge deck's deteriorated concrete. Currently, Utah, Washington, and Georgia use the saw and patch technique because it is a fast and cost-effective approach (Darter 2017). Another survey conducted at Ryerson University in Canada evaluated the current bridge deck rehabilitation. A detailed questionnaire was sent to many DOTs in North America (the U.S. and Canada) and included questions on the most common tools and methods to remove concrete from bridge decks. The survey results showed that the jackhammer was the most utilized piece of equipment (35% of the time) because it is cheap, applicable to most bridge types, and can be used vertically or horizontally (Lachemi et al. 2007).

4.2 Methodology

This study aims to experimentally evaluate and improve the saw and patch procedure to expedite concrete removal time in order to decrease traffic closure time due to the preparation process for partial-depth concrete bridge deck repair. This objective also includes identifying techniques that may be automated for future studies in reducing patch preparation time. This study presents an experimental evaluation of different sawing and jackhammering methods to partially remove concrete from the bridge deck repair area. The utilization impacts of this removal equipment on the soundness of the concrete surrounding the patch area are also evaluated. The performance of the removal methods is evaluated in terms of the patch preparation time, which directly correlates to the bridge traffic closure time. More precisely, the experimental portion of this study evaluates four different discretized sawing and jackhammering methods in terms of the removal time, equipment usage, and damage to the surrounding concrete area.

4.3 Experimental Setup and Procedure

4.3.1 The Experimental Design

Four unreinforced concrete slabs measuring 5-ft wide by 5-ft long by 10-ins. deep were cast at the SMASH lab at Utah State University, as shown in Figure 4.1. Each slab's concrete had a different mix design and resulting compressive strength with target strengths between 5,000 and 7,000 psi. The compressive strength of hardened concrete is examined by testing 4-in. diameter by 8-in. tall cylinders according to ASTM C39, Standard Test Method for Compressive Strength of Cylindrical Concrete Specimens (ASTM 2018).



Figure 4.1 Concrete test slabs with respective 28 days compressive strengths (f'c)

Each concrete slab was divided into four equal areas of dimensions 2 ft by 2 ft, and the concrete was removed using four different discretized sawing-jackhammering methods. Three-inch deep patches are removed from the slab. For each method, the removal and equipment usage times for the experiments are measured.

The four sawing-jackhammering methods are:

- 1. **Method I** involves saw cutting the four edges of the concrete patch with a gas-powered concrete saw, as shown in Figure 4.2(a), then uses only a jackhammer to remove the interior of the concrete.
- 2. **Method II** involves saw cutting the four edges of the concrete patch and two perpendicular cutting lines at the center of the patch, as shown in Figure 4.2(b). A jackhammer is then used to remove the four pieces of concrete of 12 in. by 12 in. dimension.
- 3. Method III involves saw cutting the four edges of the concrete patch and four perpendicular cutting lines inside the patch, as shown in Figure 4.2(c). Then using the jackhammer, the nine pieces of concrete with 8-in. by 8-in. dimensions are removed.

4. **Method IV** involves saw cutting the four edges of the concrete patch and six perpendicular cutting lines inside the patch, as shown in Figure 4.2(d). The jackhammer then removes 16 concrete pieces of 6-in. by 6-in. dimensions.



Figure 4.2 The four discretized methods of partial-depth concrete removal

In this experiment, a gas-powered concrete saw and a 27.6-pound electric jackhammer were used to remove the concrete patches. The saw model used was a gas-powered MAKITA EK7651H 14" and the jackhammer model was HILTI-TE 1000-AVR, as shown in Figures 4.3 and 4.4, respectively. This jackhammer is a concrete breaker, and it has chiseling performance up to 476 inch³/minute and hammering frequency up to 1,950 impacts/minute. A single licensed operator was chosen to operate the jackhammer and the concrete saw.



Figure 4.3 MAKITA EK7651H 14" concrete saw



Figure 4.4 HILTI-TE 1000-AVR concrete jackhammer

In addition to examining the effectiveness of the different patch removal methods, any detrimental effect of these removal methods on the surrounding concrete is also of interest. Destructive and non-destructive testing of the surrounding concrete was performed to determine any negative effects on the surrounding concrete. The non-destructive testing method utilized in this experiment was the rebound hammer test, performed according to ASTM C805, Standard Test Method for Rebound Number of Hardened Concrete (ASTM 2013). The test is based on the principle that the rebound of an elastic mass depends on the hardness of the concrete surface against which the mass strikes. In other words, the rebound number recorded using the hammer depends on the hardness of the concrete surface. The device manufacturer provides a correlation curve that shows the relationship between the rebound number and the compressive strength of the concrete. Referring to that curve, the compressive strength can be calculated after the rebound number is read. This experiment used a Gilson HM-705 concrete test hammer, as shown in Figure 4.5.



Figure 4.5 Gilson HM-705 Rebound hammer

The rebound test is taken three times: before starting the removal experiment, after the saw cutting, and after the completion of the patch removal by jackhammering. Three circles are marked on each side of the concrete slab, as shown in Figure 5.6, and the test is performed 20 to 40 times due to the smoothness of the slab side, and an average of those readings is taken.



Figure 4.6 Circles located on the concrete side where the rebound hammer test is taken

The destructive test used in this experiment was the concrete compressive strength of cores taken from the surrounding concrete after removal of the patches. The compressive strength test was carried out following ASTM C42, Standard Test Method for Obtaining and Testing Drilled Cores and Sawed Beams of Concrete (ASTM, 2016). Three, 3-in. diameter by 6-in.-tall cores were drilled from each concrete slab to measure the compressive strength of the concrete following the removal experiments. Figure 4.7 shows the core test equipment used in this experiment. Note that the cores are taken from the top of the slabs and after approximately one year of the original casting day.



Figure 4.7 Concrete core test equipment

4.3.2 Experiment Procedure

The experimental procedure steps are outlined as follows:

1. Prepare the concrete slab by marking the saw cutting lines and rebound test areas, then test the surrounding concrete using the rebound hammer (Figure 4.8).



Figure 4.8 Preparation of the concrete slab before saw-cutting

2. Use the saw to cut the concrete patch following Methods I, II, III, or IV. Measure the direct cutting time for each method (Figures 4.9 and 4.10).



Figure 4.9 Sawing the concrete along the discretization lines



Figure 4.10 The concrete slab after saw cutting

3. Jackhammer the patches to a removal depth of 3 inches. Measure the time required for each method. Upon completion, retest the strength of the surrounding concrete using the rebound hammer (Figures 4.11 and 4.12).



Figure 4.11 Jackhammer removal of the concrete



Figure 4.12 The concrete slab after jackhammer removal

- 4. Measure the removal depth after jackhammering to ensure a 3-inch removal depth (Figure 4.13).
- 5. Test the compressive strength of the surrounding concrete using the rebound hammer.
- 6. Repeat Steps 1 through 5 for each slab.



Figure 4.13 Verifying the removal depth

4.4 Results and Discussion

4.4.1 Concrete Compressive Strength

The compressive strength testing results of 4-in. diameter by 8-in.-tall cylinders, taken when the slabs were poured and tested after 28 days according to ASTM C39 (ASTM 2018), are shown in Table 1. After removing a 3-inch depth of concrete from each slab using four different sawing and jackhammering methods, three cores are extracted from each concrete slab according to ASTM C42 (ASTM 2016) to measure the compressive strength of the concrete and evaluate the effects of sawing and jackhammering on the concrete strength. The average compressive strengths of the cylinders and cores are shown in Table 4.1.

Slab #	Average compressive strength 28 days (psi)	Standard deviation (psi)	Average compressive strength of cores (psi)	Standard deviation (psi)
Slab 1	5,688	415	7,535	2,035
Slab 2	5,781	489	6,303	334
Slab 3	6,145	567	7,176	1,447
Slab 4	6,205	1,029	8,743	1,681

Table 4.1	Average com	pressive st	trengths o	f concrete
I able III	riverage com		in engins o	1 001101010

Table 4.1 presents a comparison between the compressive strength of the concrete before and after the concrete removal. The results show that the strength of concrete at age one year is higher than the strength of cylinders at age 28 days. This is expected as concrete continues to increase in strength with time. The results indicate that in the case of small healthy concrete slabs, the core test indicates that the impacts of sawing and jackhammering does not have an adverse effect on concrete strength.

Table 4.2 shows the average measured rebound values, the converted compressive strength f'c, and the standard deviation of the rebound hammer tests. The rebound values are measured by the rebound hammer before the sawing, after the sawing, and after the jackhammering. The results of the four slabs indicate that concrete strength decreases after jackhammering, which means that the sawing and jackhammering have a negative impact on concrete strength.

	Before sawing		After sawing			After jackhammering			
Slab #	Rebound number	Mean. fc' (psi)	S.D. (psi)	Rebound number	Mean fc' (psi)	S.D. (psi)	Rebound number	Mean fc' (psi)	S.D. (psi)
Slab 1	38.3	4,558	180	35.7	4,048	286	37.7	4,443	232
Slab 2	40.6	5,110	227	40.8	5,110	212	40.4	5,080	164
Slab 3	41.3	5,240	211	41.1	5,190	180	39.4	4,840	457
Slab 4	38.5	4,613	227	38.5	4,630	288	37.2	4,350	248

Table 4.2 Rebound tests' results

4.4.2 Saw Removal Time

The four different discretized sawing-jackhammering methods have 4, 6, 8, and 10 saw cutting lines, respectively. The saw cutting time is calculated for each saw cutting line per minute, as shown in Table 4.3.

	Time of saw line cutting (minute)							
		Gre	een		Orange			
	Method (1)	Method (2)	Method (3)	Method (4)	Method (1)	Method (2)	Method (3)	Method (4)
Line # 1	01:54.6	01:55.5	02:09.4	02:12.6	02:16.1	02:04.0	02:36.4	02:07.8
Line # 2	02:25.3	02:11.1	01:56.9	02:07.8	02:31.9	01:58.2	02:08.3	02:12.8
Line # 3	02:15.7	02:18.0	01:58.5	02:02.2	01:58.2	01:55.1	02:08.9	01:54.9
Line # 4	02:35.3	02:08.1	01:52.6	02:09.5	02:01.5	02:01.2	02:24.1	02:44.0
Line # 5		01:47.2	01:58.2	02:45.1		01:54.2	02:19.6	03:33.0
Line # 6		02:00.6	01:40.5	01:52.6		01:50.2	02:44.9	03:30.9
Line # 7			01:56.0	02:02.0			02:18.5	01:48.9
Line # 8			02:05.2	02:00.0			02:56.2	02:06.3
Line # 9				01:58.9				02:24.6
Line # 10				02:23.1				02:48.5
Total =	09:10.9	12:20.4	15:37.2	21:34.0	08:47.7	11:43.0	19:36.9	25:11.6
		Yel	low		Blue			
	Method (1)	Method (2)	Method (3)	Method (4)	Method (1)	Method (2)	Method (3)	Method (4)
Line # 1	02:11.6	02:18.1	02:17.7	01:52.5	01:49.3	01:57.4	01:42.4	02:03.2
Line # 2	02:03.1	01:56.4	02:08.8	02:58.1	01:41.2	01:56.0	01:46.1	01:56.6
Line # 3	01:59.5	02:24.2	02:03.4	02:19.3	01:44.3	01:52.6	01:57.7	01:50.8
Line # 4	02:15.9	02:10.8	02:00.5	02:03.0	01:42.2	01:49.9	01:42.6	01:43.9
Line # 5		02:05.0	01:45.8	01:46.4		01:46.7	01:51.8	01:37.5
Line # 6		02:05.0	02:10.3	01:52.5		01:47.8	01:49.1	01:54.1
Line # 7			01:57.7	01:58.3			01:58.6	01:58.9
Line # 8			01:55.4	01:45.9			01:49.8	01:51.8
Line # 9				01:57.7				01:52.3
Line # 10				01:45.1				01:47.2
Total =	08:30.1	12:59.5	16:19.6	20:18.8	06:57.1	11:10.5	14:38.0	18:36.3

 Table 4.3 Time of saw line cutting (minutes: seconds)

Figure 4.14 demonstrates the measured time to cut a line without considering either the concrete strength or the cutting method. The average time required to cut a 2-foot line using a saw is 124.6 seconds with a standard deviation of 21.27 seconds.



Figure 4.14 The required time of saw cutting line

The boxplots in Figure 4.15 represent the maximum and minimum time of each cutting line for the four different concrete strengths. The minimum saw cutting for a line is 01:37.5 minutes and the maximum is 3:33.0 minutes. The results do not indicate a distinct relationship between the saw cutting time and the concrete strength. This means that the concrete strength is not an influencing factor on the saw cutting time.





From the field observation during the saw cutting process, it was noticed that other factors could have more effects on the saw cutting time, such as the sharpness of the saw blade and the productivity rate of the operator. Slab (1), with f'c=5,688 psi, was the first slab to be cut and the operator had little previous experience running the concrete saw, therefore it took more time to operate the saw and control the cutting process. For Slab (2), with f'c=5,781 psi, it was clear that the cutting time increased and the cutting rate decreased due to erosion of the saw blade and the operator's physical fatigue, as seen during concrete removal from Slab (1) and (2). The saw blade was degraded and needed to be changed, the working time was around 5 p.m., and the operator was tired after a long workday. Those two factors led to a lower productivity rate and more cutting time, as shown in Figure 4.15. Regarding the saw blade performance, another study stated that the saw blade wear rapidly decreases the cutting depth (Hu et al. 2006), which means that more time is required to complete the saw cutting. While the saw cutting of the third and fourth slabs gradually takes less time compared with the first and second slabs because the cutting is done in the morning, the saw has a new blade and the operator has become more skilled by repeating the same task four times.

4.4.3 Jackhammering Time

Figure 4.16 illustrates the relationship between the number of saw-cutting lines and the jackhammering time for the four concrete slabs. There is a strong correlation between the number of saw lines and the jackhammering time. The increased number of saw-cutting lines decreases the jackhammering time. For example, jackhammering the green slab that has four saw lines takes more than 25 minutes, but when the slab has 10 saw lines, the jackhammering time is reduced to 11:26.7 minutes: seconds, as shown in Figure 4.16a.



Figure 4.16 The number of the saw-cutting lines vs. jackhammering time

After removal of the concrete, an interview/discussion was held with the operator. Based on the operator's opinion, using the jackhammer requires a high muscular effort, and the operator is exposed to a high level of vibration. These can lead to some health issues such as overexertion, headache, reduced efficiency, and even possible injury (Johnson et al. 2017; Inyang et al. 2012). The jackhammer is considered a heavy construction tool and should be handled properly by a skilled operator to reduce the risk of accidents (Rodriguez 2019). However, the operator preferred using the saw rather than the jackhammer given the choice. In this regard, concrete removal Method IV with 10 saw lines has an advantage over the other methods. According to the field observation, the jackhammering time depends on certain factors, including the operator's skills, pull-off/impact angle, and the number of saw-cutting lines. The operator's skills are important in terms of the quantity of concrete removal and the quality of the cutting surface. Therefore, operators must try each cutting method on their own to become familiar with the jackhammer and the cutting process. In general, it has been noticed that jackhammering the first patches took more time and the operator faced some control difficulties while it was easier and more

efficient for the last patches. In addition, the recommended right pull-off/impact angle is 45° (Vorster et al. 1992), but during jackhammering it was hard to consistently obtain this angle for many reasons, such as avoiding cutting the edges, limited maneuverability within the workspace, and using the operator's body force as shown in Figure 4.17. This has negative effects on the productivity rate and increases the jackhammering time.



Figure 4.17 Examples of pull-off/impact angles of the jackhammer

Additionally, increasing the saw-cutting lines has a positive impact on jackhammering. The saw lines divided the concrete area into smaller pieces, which decreased the mechanical bonds between those concrete pieces and made it easier for the operator to remove those small pieces with less muscular effort and less time as well.

4.4.4 Concrete Removal Volume

The target required removal volume of concrete is 2-ft x 2-ft x 3-in. (= 1.00 ft^3), but the saw blade dimension is 3.5 inches, which increases the cutting depth and removal volume to 1.167 ft3. After sawing and jackhammering, 20 depth measurements are taken from each removal area, and then the average of the 20 readings is used to calculate the actual concrete removal volume per ft3, as shown in Table 4.4.

	Method I	Method II	Method III	Method IV		
	4 saw lines	6 saw lines	8 saw lines	10 saw lines		
Slab 1	0.902	1.023	1.007	1.023		
Slab 2	0.988	1.040	1.092	1.135		
Slab 3	0.985	0.985	1.073	1.038		
Slab 4	0.923	1.078	1.095	1.205		

Table 4.4	Concrete removal	volume	(\mathbf{ft}^3)
1 aute 7.7	Concrete removal	volume	IL J

The boxplots in Figure 4.18 show the concrete removal volume in terms of the number of saw lines. As can be seen in the figure, the increasing of the saw cutting lines increases the removal volume gradually regardless of the concrete strength. In Method I, the removal volume is less than the target, which requires additional chipping work to remove the remaining concrete. Method IV resulted in a volume closest to the target and there is no need for extra chipping.



Figure 4.18 Boxplots of concrete removal volume (ft³)

4.4.5 Optimal Removal Method

From the experimental data and field observation, using Method IV on Slab 4 is the optimal concrete removal method, as shown in Table 4.5. Method IV saws the concrete patch into 16 concrete pieces and then removes them using the jackhammer. The operator became an expert by that time and was familiar with the four cutting methods. The operator was able to use and control the cutting equipment professionally and was in a rested health condition. In addition, the saw blade was in good condition and the 45° jackhammering pull-off angle was obtained. As illustrated in Table 5, the total saw cutting time of Method IV for Slab 4 is the shortest time, 18:36.3 minutes. Also, the required jackhammering time on the same slab decreases dramatically to 07:04.6 minutes: seconds, which is 4:22.01 minutes: seconds less than the following time of Slab 1. Therefore, this concrete removal method is efficient and time-saving.

Table 4.5 The total	sawing and	jackhammering	times of Method IV

#	Total saw cutting time (Minute)	Total jackhammering time (Minute)
Concrete Slab # 1	21:34.0	11:26.7
Concrete Slab # 2	25:11.6	14:42.4
Concrete Slab # 3	20:18.8	16:28.1
Concrete Slab # 4	18:36.3	07:04.6

Furthermore, in this slab, the operator jackhammered the first two concrete pieces then had enough space to go underneath each piece and pop it out, as shown in Figure 4.19. This also resulted in larger debris pieces that are easier to remove. The larger pieces also resulted in fewer smaller degree particles and dust, which also improves the sustainability of the removal method (Zhu et al. 2019). Based on these results, it appears that Method IV could potentially be automated in the future, as the saw cutting can easily be automated and removing the concrete pieces was more uniform, requiring less operator evaluation on removal depth.



Figure 4.19 Removal of the discretized concrete pieces

4.4.6 Applied Example

In this section, the four sawing and jackhammering techniques presented in this study have been applied to a real partial-depth bridge deck repair project: the Utah SR-193 bridge over US-89 (Structure Number 0F 575) located in Layton, Utah. The SR-193 concrete bridge was built in 1995 with a 178.5-ft length and a 65.3-ft width (https://bridgereports.com/1570708). The total repair patch removal volume was 1,086.57 ft3; the details of the project and the repairing patches are given in Appendix A (Maguire et al. 2021). It is assumed that the project's repair patches are squares and the concrete compressive strength of the bridge is similar to the blue test concrete slab (6,205 psi). The four different methods are applied for the entire project, and the detailed results are seen in Appendix B while a summary of the results is shown in Table 4.6. The results indicate that using Method IV, the previously identified optimal case, is the fastest method to remove concrete from the bridge, and Method I, the current practice method, is the slowest. This means applying the optimal method that is carried out by this research can save approximately 35% of the required time to remove concrete from this project.

	6
Method	Total time (hour)
Method I (4 saw cuttin	ng lines) 656.71
Method II (6 saw cutti	ng lines) 610.07
Method III (8 saw cutt	ing lines) 598.02
Method IV (10 saw cut	ting lines) 426.05

Table 4.6 The required time of concrete removal using the four methods

4.5 Conclusion

This chapter concludes that the saw and patch method is the most commonly used bridge deck concrete removal method despite it being the slowest and most labor-intensive. Increasing the saw cutting lines decreases the jackhammering time for the different concrete strengths and increases the concrete removal volume. The saw and patch method can be influenced by many factors, such as the operator's skills and health/energy level, saw blade sharpness, and jackhammer pull-off angle. Lastly, Method IV, which has the largest number of saw-cut lines, is the optimal concrete removal method among the other proposed methods and saves approximately 35% of the required concrete removal time. Also, it has the potential to be automated in the future.

5. EXPERIMENTAL STUDY OF THE HIGH-PRESSURE WATER JET "HYDRO-DEMOLITION TECHNIQUE" IMPACTING CONCRETE FOR PARTIAL-DEPTH CONCRETE BRIDGE DECK REPAIR

5.1 Introduction

Hydro-demolition refers to the use of the high-pressure water-jet technique for concrete removal (Lewis 1990). This water jet technique includes two types: the pure water jet and the abrasive water jet (AWJ). The pure water jet is the earliest application; the AWJ has been used to increase the cutting capability by adding abrasive material to the water (Xue et al. 2018). The hydro-demolition technique is an innovative technology, which has been widely used in rehabilitation of highway infrastructures (Bazanov 2019), particularly in full bridge deck rehabilitation (Lewis 1990) where preservation of the reinforcement steel is required (Sitek et al. 2011). This technique is also becoming more common for partial-depth concrete removal of bridge deck repairs (Roper 2018). In fact, Silfwerbrand (2009) states that hydro-demolition is the best technique for concrete removal. Wenzlick (2002) argues that hydro-demolition does not cause damage to the unsounded concrete left in place compared with other conventional methods such as jackhammering and milling, which can generate micro-fracturing in the concrete surface and can lead to premature loss of bond in the concrete patching or overlay material (Wenzlick 2002). Furthermore, the hydro-demolition technique has competitive operational advantages, including a dust-free, vibration-free, and heat-free work zone (Momber 2003). McCabe (2014) highlights that hydro-demolition can be done in a directional manner, which means it has selective concrete removal capability. Conversely, using hydrodemolition for partial-depth bridge deck repair has some challenges. One of these practical difficulties is called "punch-through" or "blow-through," which occurs when the high-pressure water causes a hole through the entire depth of the bridge deck (Hopwood et al. 2015). Figure 5.1 shows examples of significant and insignificant types of punch-through, which is considered a structural failure that occurs when the concrete bridge deck section capacity is less than the applied forces from the high-water pressure. The concrete failure could be in bending, one-way shear, or two-way shear failure models. According to a recent study, the governing failure model of punch-through is the bending moment in the orientation where the length of the concrete section is greater than the width (Roper 2018).



(a)



⁽b)



Punch-through has human safety and environmental concerns, including falling concrete debris under the bridge might injure some people and/or damage their properties. The resulting deck holes are also construction hazards to the health and safety of the workers, and the hydro-demolition water can run through the open holes before it is treated, which can be harmful to the environment. This is in addition to the significant increase in the deck repair cost due to the extra work hours and material (Roper 2018). However, the occurrence of punch-through is not clearly identified due to limited information and studies (ICRI 2014). This is especially true for partial deck concrete removal because, to date, no study can be found that correlates the necessary water pressure for removal to the strength or material properties of the concrete. Therefore, it is necessary to focus on the partial-depth concrete removal process impacted by high-pressure water and the influential parameters of using this technique while considering the required water cutting time for different types of concrete strengths.

5.2 Methodology

This study aims to investigate the partial-depth concrete removal process for bridge deck repair using the hydro-demolition technique by analyzing the impacts of different water jet pressures on different concrete strengths as well as concrete behavior under those pressure jets. Specifically, the study seeks to: identify the influential parameters that affect the entire partial-depth removal process when using hydro-demolition to, minimize the occurrence of the punch-through problem, and reduce the traffic closure time due to the bridge deck repairing. In this chapter, an experimental study was conducted to analyze the impacts of high-pressure water on concrete as part of the PDR of the concrete bridge deck. Small-scale trials of 15 concrete specimens with varying compressive strengths were tested. A statistical analysis for the experimental data of AWJ on concrete with different compressive strengths was then carried out in order to develop a predictive model for determining the input parameters to accurately predict concrete removal to a specified depth. The results of this study can provide a better understating of the concrete bridge deck removal.

5.3 Experimental Setup, Procedure & Results

5.3.1 Equipment

A high-pressure water jet machine, the Integrated Flying Bridge Water Jet Machine manufactured by FLOW company (as shown in Figure 5.2), was used to carry out the physical experiments. This machine has a computer control system that controls the input parameters of the water jet, including the nozzle stand-off distance, the nozzle angle, the abrasive flow rate, and the water pressure. The machine work plate dimensions were 6 ft by 10 ft, the maximum pressure of the water jet was 45 ksi, and the pump is 30 hp. The water cutting tolerance of the machine is ± 0.001 inch. In addition to the water jet, other tools are used for testing concrete properties such as compressive strength machine, air meter test, and slump cone test. Subsequent sections of this chapter discuss this in further detail.



Figure 5.2 FLOW abrasive water jet machine

5.3.2 Sample Specimens

Five unreinforced concrete mixtures were designed for this study. In the concrete mixtures, the water to cement ratio has been changed while the aggregate amount and grading were kept the same. Fifteen slabs/specimens, 24-ins. long by 8-ins. wide by 5-ins. deep, were cast in the Concrete Technology Lab at Utah State University. The dimensions and average compressive strengths of the specimens are shown in Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.3 Concrete specimens for water jet cutting

The following properties of fresh and hardened concrete were examined: 1) the consistency of fresh concrete by slump test according to ASTM C143, Standard Test Method for Slump Of Portland Cement Concrete (ASTM 2012), as shown in Figure 5.4; 2) the air content of fresh concrete by pressure test according to ASTM C231, Standard Test Method for Air Content of Freshly Mixed Concrete by the Pressure Method (ASTM 2013), as shown in Figure 5.5; and 3) the compressive strength of hardened concrete by testing 4-in. diameter by 8-in. high cylinders according to ASTM C39, Standard Test Method for Compressive Strength of Cylindrical Concrete Specimens (ASTM 2018), as shown in Figures 5.6 and 5.7.



Figure 5.4 Slump test



Figure 5.5 Air content test



Figure 5.6 Cylinders for compressive strength



Figure 5.7 Compressive strength test, (a) before applying the loads, (b) after applying the loads

The results of these tests are presented in Table 5.1.

#	Color Code	Average compressive strength (psi)	Compressive strength standard deviation (psi)	Air content %	Slump (inch)
1	Yellow	5,460	645	1.8%	0
2	Pink	5,880	782	1.5%	5.5
3	Orange	7,683	953	2.4%	2.5
4	Green	8,660	613	1.6%	6.5
5	Blue	10,077	1,027	3.6%	4.2

 Table 5.1 The properties of concrete specimens

5.3.3 Experimental Procedure

In this study, 125 water jet cutting operations were done (24 penetration points x 5 specimens + 5 lines =125 operations), as shown in Figure 5.8.



Figure 5.8 The cutting operations of concrete

The AWJ machine parameters such as nozzle diameter, nozzle angle, stand-off distance, abrasive grain size, and abrasive flow rate were maintained to a constant value of 0.04 inches, 0°, 0.125 inches, Garnett 80 mesh, and 1.1 pounds per minute, respectively. In addition, three parameters (water pressure, concrete strength, and cutting time) were varied, as shown in Table 5.2.

Cons	stants	Variables		
Nozzle diameter	0.04 inch	Compressive strength	5,460, 5,880, 7,683,	
Nozzle angle	ozzle angle 0°		8,660, 10,077 psi	
Stand-off distance 0.125 inch		Water Pressure P	10, 12.5, 15, 17.5	
Abrasive grain size Garnett 80 mesh		water riessure r	ksi	
Abrasive flow rate	1.1 lb/min	Cutting Time T	1, 1.5, 2 min.	

Table 5.2 AWJ input paraments

The water jet cutting for the concrete specimens included 24 penetration points and one line for each compressive strength batch. Each penetration point was tested twice under a different pressure, 10, 12.5, 15, and 17.5 ksi, for a preset amount of time. The penetration depth was then measured at the end of the preset time. After that, one specified pressure was used to cut a line, for which the cutting time, cutting depth, and cutting width of the line were measured. The experiment procedure steps of the water jet cutting are as follows:

- 1. Set up the water jet machine, including the nozzle diameter, nozzle angle, stand-off distance, abrasive type, and abrasive flow rate.
- 2. Submerge the concrete specimens in the water tank at depth of 4 inches below the water line. The specimens were pre-soaked prior to immersion to inhibit absorption of the water from the tank (See Figure 5.9).



Figure 5.9 Submerging the concrete slabs

- 3. Prepare the timer and the datasheet to take the results.
- 4. Set the water pressure at 10 ksi.
- 5. Point the jet nozzle above the first marked penetration point for specified time (e.g., 1 minute) then measure the penetration depth (see Figures 5.10 and 5.11).



Figure 5.10 Penetration point cutting



Figure 5.11 Measuring the penetration cutting depth

- 6. Repeat step (5) for second marked penetration point.
- 7. Repeat steps (5 & 6) for 1.5 minutes and 2 minutes, sequentially.
- 8. Reset water pressure to 12.5 ksi, 15 ksi, and 17.5 ksi. Repeat steps from 5 to 7.
- 9. Reset the water jet machine based on pressure (17.5 ksi) and cut a line. Then measure the width and depth of cutting (see Figure 5.12).



Figure 5.12 Measuring the line's cutting depth

- 10. Remove the concrete specimen and clean the machine.
- 11. Repeat Steps from (1) to (10) for the other concrete specimen strengths.

5.3.4 Experimental Results

For the AWJ cutting, Table 5.3 shows the experimental results of cutting lines; Table 5.4 shows a sample of the experimental results of the penetration points for the concrete strength 5,460 psi. The complete tabulated results are presented in Appendix C.

Compressive	ompressive	Cutting depth (inch)					
Strength (164) days (psi)	Water pressure (ksi)	Time (minute)	Une Width (inch)	Line length (inch)	point (1)	Point (2)	point (3)
5,460	17.5	17	0.058	8	3.549	2.95	3.402
5,880	17.5	16.75	0.058	8	3.953	3.648	4.314
7,683	17.5	19.4	0.058	8	3.268	2.155	3.004
8,660	17.5	17.43	0.058	8	3.699	3.189	3.769
10,077	17.5	18.08	0.058	8	2.722	2.266	2.595

 Table 5.3 Line cutting experimental results

Exp. #	Compressive strength (psi)	Water pressure (ksi)	Cutting time (minutes)	Cutting depth (inch)
1	5,460	10	1	2.084
2	5,460	10	1	1.978
3	5,460	10	1.5	1.621
4	5,460	10	1.5	1.753
5	5,460	10	2	2.731
6	5,460	10	2	2.506
7	5,460	12.5	1	1.147
8	5,460	12.5	1	2.366
9	5,460	12.5	1.5	2.888
10	5,460	12.5	1.5	2.976
11	5,460	12.5	2	3.104
12	5,460	12.5	2	3.184
13	5,460	15	1	2.184
14	5,460	15	1	1.338
15	5,460	15	1.5	3.518
16	5,460	15	1.5	3.621
17	5,460	15	2	2.361
18	5,460	15	2	3.909
19	5,460	17.5	1	3.872
20	5,460	17.5	1	3.1495
21	5,460	17.5	1.5	3.4605
22	5,460	17.5	1.5	4.1295
23	5,460	17.5	2	3.8965
24	5,460	17.5	2	4.5815

Table 5.4 Sample experimental results of penetration point testing for concrete strength 5,460 psi

5.4 Experimental Setup, Procedure & Results

This section presents the statistical methods used for this study, including the parametric analysis, ANOVA analysis, and regression model. Five constant input parameters are analyzed: nozzle diameter, nozzle angle, stand-off distance, abrasive grain size, and abrasive flow rate. Additionally, three input variables, water pressure, concrete strength, and cutting time, are measured with the corresponding cutting depth. Furthermore, the effect of each input variable of AWJ is analyzed using parametric analysis, ANOVA, regression analysis, and empirical predictive models are done to show the AWJ's statistical significance for the optimum prediction of the cutting process. Finally, a model validation process is developed to verify the predictive models' results with experimental data.

5.4.1 Statistical Analysis of the Line Cutting

Five 8-inch lines are cut to a target 3-inch depth using 17.5 ksi water pressure. One line cutting was done for each concrete strength. The measured results from the experiments are the cutting depth, cutting width, and time to cut across the specimen. The resulting cut is deeper at the edges and shallower in the middle of the slab resulting in a cutting line cutting that has a curved shape. Therefore, the average depth was obtained by taking three measurement points at the right edge, middle, and left edge of the slab. The results of those measurements are shown in Table 5.3. These experimental measurements were used to determine the removal material volume per cubic inch. The values were divided by the cutting time to get the material removal rate as a volume per time, as shown in Table 5.5.

#	Average compressive strength (psi)	Cutting time (minute)	Material removal volume (inch ³)	Material removal rate (inch ³ /minute)
1	5,460	17	1.450	0.085
2	5,880	16.75	1.792	0.107
3	7,683	19.4	1.152	0.059
4	8660	17.43	1.564	0.090
5	10,077	18.08	1.112	0.061

 Table 5.5 Material removal rates

In general, there is a decreasing trend in the removal material rate with the increase of the concrete strength. Concrete slabs 2, 4, and 5 show that the material removal rate has a negative relationship to the concrete strength, which means that with higher concrete strength the removal rate is less. For example, the removal rate of concrete strength 5,141 psi is 0.107 inch³/minute while it equals 0.061 in concrete strength 8,811 psi. However, slabs 1 and 3 are not aligned with the general trend due to the heterogeneity of the concrete mixing (compressive strength variability) as well as the limited number of specimens that were tested due to financial restraints. These results are as expected and align with previous studies that show that as material strength increases, the cutting time increases (Karakurt et al. 2012; Liu et al. 2019; Momber 2011). The material removal rate is normalized to the compressive strength of concrete and the results are shown in Figure 5.13. Using the equation of the line from Figure 5.13 and a known concrete compressive strength, the removal time of concrete can be predicted.



Figure 5.13 Normalization of the material removal rate

The uncertainty associated with the compressive strength of concrete was quantified by calculating the upper and lower limits at a 95% confidence interval, as shown in Table 5.6. Then, the percentage of the uncertainty was considered for the material removal rate of concrete, as shown in Table 5.7.

		<u> </u>			
Average compressive strength (psi)	Standard deviation	Confidence level	Z	Upper limit	Lower limit
5,460	645	95%	1.96	6025	5282
5,880	782	95%	1.96	6565	5754
7,683	953	95%	1.96	8519	7467
8,660	613	95%	1.96	9197	8062
10,077	1027	95%	1.96	10977	9622

 Table 5.6 The uncertainty of the compressive strength of concrete

 Table 5.7 Material removal of AWJ cutting

Material removal rate (inch ³ /minute)	Upper limit	Lower limit
0.085	0.094	0.082
0.107	0.119	0.105
0.059	0.066	0.058
0.090	0.095	0.084
0.061	0.067	0.059

5.4.2 Statistical analysis of the penetration points

5.4.2.1 Parametric analysis

All penetration point experiments are performed twice under the same conditions in terms of compressive strength, cutting time, and cutting pressure. The average cutting depth of the two experiments is taken and compared with the AWJ input variables such as water jet pressure, cutting time, and penetration depth for the five different concrete strengths. For each concrete strength, the relationship between the average penetration depth and water pressure is illustrated for the three different penetration times (1, 1.5, and 2 minutes). These results are shown in Figure 5.14.

In general, the experimental results show that the increase in the water pressure is associated with an increase in the cutting depth for any concrete strength and for any penetration time. For example, when AWJ is run for 1 minute on a concrete strength of 4,774 psi at a pressure of 10 ksi, the resulting cutting depth is 2.03 inches. It increases to 4.24 inches at a pressure of 17.5 ksi. Another example, concrete strength of 5,141 psi, at 2 minutes the depth is gradually increasing with the increase of the water pressure, as shown in Figure 5.14. Furthermore, Figure 5.14 describes the relationship between the cutting time and depth at the same water pressure. The cutting depth showed an increasing trend with the increasing of time. For example, cutting concrete strength 7,572 psi, using a pressure of 10 ksi gave a cutting depth of 1.64 inches at 1 minute, 1.86 inches at 1.5 minutes, and 2.01 inches at 2 minutes. Similarly, the cutting depth of concrete strength 8,811 psi impacted by a water pressure of 15 ksi

measured 1.94, 2.82, and 3.33 inches at 1, 1.5, and 2 minutes, respectively. Overall, it was determined that both the water pressure and the cutting time have significant effects on increasing the rate of the cutting depth of the concrete for any compressive strength. This is aligned with previous research studies, such as Ojmertz's study, which stated that the tolerance of the cutting depth increases linearly with the increase of water pressure (Ojmertz 1993).



Figure 5.14 The input effect of the input parameters on the cutting depth of concrete

5.4.2.2 Regression analysis

This research also carried out regression analysis on the results of the penetration experiments. Regression analysis is a statistical analysis consisting of the determination of the inter-relationships between the variables. Regression analysis is one of the most widely employed methods to fit a line or a curve to datasets that belong to variables that are in statistically significant linear and non-linear correlations. The value of a dependent variable can be predicted for any value of an independent variable by using the regression model fitted (Atici and Ersoy 2009). In this study, the effect of the different variables compressive strength of the concrete, water pressure, and cutting time on the cutting depth of the concrete was determined by developing empirical models to predict the concrete cutting depth. The models include linear and non-linear empirical equations where the cutting time T, and water pressure P are the independent variables. The square root of the compressive strength was also considered, as many of the inter-relationships of the mechanical properties of concrete (e.g., modulus of elasticity) have been shown to be related by the square root of the compressive strength. The developed empirical equations are listed in Equations 5.1 to Equations 5.4.

$$D_1 (inch) = a_1 * f'c (psi) + a_2 * P(ksi) + a_3 * T(min.)$$
 Eq. 5.1

$$D_2(inch) = a_1 * \sqrt{f'c}(psi) + a_2 * P(ksi) + a_3 * T(min.)$$
 Eq. 5.2

$$D_3 (inch) = a_1 * f'c (psi) + a_2 * P^2(ksi) + a_3 * T(min.)$$
 Eq. 5.3

$$D_4 (inch) = a_1 * \sqrt{f'c} (psi) + a_2 * P^2(ksi) + a_3 * T(min.) \qquad Eq. 5.4$$

Where: D is the removal depth, f'c is the compressive strength of concrete, P is water pressure, and T is time.

However, before using any of those models, the constants (a1, a2, and a3) in the models need to be determined. For this purpose, the multiple regression analysis was performed using the R software version 4.2.1 and the experimental results from Table 5.4. Substituting these constants into the equations results in Equations 5.5 through 5.8.

$$D_1 = -1.13 * 10^{-4} f' c + 0.174 P + 0.744 T \qquad Eq. (5.5)$$

$$D_2 = -0.0149\sqrt{fc} + 0.193 P + 0.844 T \qquad \qquad Eq. (5.6)$$

$$D_3 = -0.00335\sqrt{fc} + 0.075 * P^2 + 0.965 T \qquad \qquad Eq. (5.7)$$

$$D_4 = -0.016 \sqrt{f'c} + 0.007 P^2 + 0.849 T \qquad \qquad Eq. (5.8)$$

Equations 5.5 to 5.8 for cutting depth show that the parameter of the compressive strength of concrete (f'c) poses positive effects while the other two parameters, the water pressure P and the cutting time T, both pose negative effects.

5.4.2.3 ANOVA analysis

The statistical method of analysis of variance (ANOVA) is used to study the influence of each input variable on the cutting depth of the concrete. The factors that influence statistical significance and model adequacies developed are tested for the preset 95% confidence level. In ANOVA, Fisher's statistical test
(F ratio) and statistical probability (P-value) are used to determine the most influencing parameters and the statistical significance toward response variables, respectively (Gupta 2020). A larger F-statistic value of a parameter dictates the most significant parameter, while the P value (P < 0.5) determines the parameter that is statistically significant (Azmir et al. 2009). Three parameters were investigated— concrete compressive strength, AWJ water pressure, and cutting time—to see their impact on the cutting depth. The F value was calculated for each parameter. The ANOVA analysis was carried out using R software version 4.2.1 and the ANOVA results are presented in Table 5.8.

	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F-value	P-value
Model 1					
Strength of concrete f'c	1	2.48	2.48	13.89	0.0003
Water Pressure P	1	35.38	35.38	198.29	< 2e-16
Time	1	14.42	14.42	80.84	5.46E-15
Residuals	116	20.7	0.18		
Model 2					
Sqr. Strength of concrete f'c ^{0.5}	1	2.47	2.47	13.81	0.00031
Water Pressure P	1	35.38	35.38	198.18	< 2e-16
Time	1	14.42	14.42	80.79	5.53E-15
Residuals	116	20.71	0.18		
Model 3					
Strength of concrete f'c	1	2.48	2.48	14.05	0.00028
Sq. Water Pressure P ²	1	35.62	35.62	201.99	2.00E-16
Time	1	14.42	14.42	81.79	4.11E-15
Residuals	116	20.46	0.18		
Model 4					
Sqr. Strength of concrete f'c ^{0.5}	1	2.47	2.47	13.97	0.00029
Sq. Water Pressure P ²	1	35.62	35.62	201.87	< 2e-16
Time	1	14.42	14.42	81.87	4.17E-15
Residuals	116	20.47	0.18		

 Table 5.8 ANOVA results for the cutting depth model

The ANOVA results show that the four models are statistically significant at the 95% confidence level and the effects of the parameters for all models demonstrate a similar trend. According to F-value and P-value, the water pressure emerges as the most influencing input parameter, followed by cutting time and strength of concrete. For example, in Model 1, the F-value of water pressure is 198.29, cutting time is 80.84, and compressive strength of concrete is 13.89. Also, the P-value is less than 0.001 for the three parameters, as shown in Table 5.8. This agrees with previous studies that show water pressure has a very high impact on the AWJ cutting process compared with other parameters (Llanto et al. 2021). Therefore, changing the water pressure will have the greatest effect on the concrete's removal rate.

5.4.2.4 Validation of the Models

A quantitative assessment to validate the predictive models was carried out by direct comparison between the models' cutting depth results to experimental results. The validation process was conducted using two main criteria: the coefficient of the models' R^2 value and the residuals. Figure 5.15 presents the predicted cutting depth of the concrete derived from the models versus the experimental values of cutting depth. The R^2 values for the four models are equal to 97%, which indicates that the presented models fit the data and can give an adequate prediction of the cutting depth of concrete within the conditions tested in this study.



Figure 5.15 Predicted cutting depth versus the experimental cutting depth

Another validation method used for checking the models was the residual, which is the difference between an observed value and the predicted value. This technique presents a better test, providing a very effective means of detecting abnormal behavior in the residuals. Figure 5.16 shows that the residuals are randomly scattered around the line, which means that the residuals do not have a bias with constant variance.



Figure 5.16 Residuals of the models

5.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, the hydro-demolition technique used for partial-depth bridge deck repair is investigated to eliminate the occurrence of the punch-through problem and identify its influence parameters. The investigation is carried out by lab experiments and statistical analysis. The experimental study finds that water pressure, cutting time, and compressive strength of concrete influence the cutting depth of the water jet. The statistical analysis provides a multi-regression model that can be employed for the prediction and optimization of response parameters of the hydro-demolition technique. Finally, it is concluded that the punch-through problem can be eliminated and the water jet cutting depth can be controlled by knowing and controlling the process parameters, such as the given water pressure, cutting time, and compressive strength of the deteriorated concrete.

6. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND FUTURE WORKS

6.1 Summary & Conclusions

This study investigates different concrete removal methods used for partial-depth bridge deck repair to decrease traffic closure time due to the preparation process for partial-depth replacement, improve the efficiency of the concrete removal methods, and evaluate the life cycle sustainability of those techniques. The study evaluates the techniques that are currently used and identifies the saw and patch method, chip and patch method, mill and patch, and water-blast and patch method (hydro-demolition) as some commonly utilized methods for concrete removal; as well as the advantages and disadvantages of using each technique. The initial interest of this research starts with focusing on the environmental impacts of the different concrete removal techniques used for partial-depth repair (PDR) of bridge decks. The environmental study identifies a significant factor, the required time to remove the concrete using each method, which needs to be considered. The study noted that the most used method, saw and patch, is the slowest while the newest used method, hydro-demolition, is the fastest. In light of this result, this research further investigated those two methods. This leads to three main points that warrant consideration: 1) The saw and patch is the most commonly used method due to its advantages compared with other methods; however, this method is very time-consuming and labor-intensive compared with the other methods. 2) The hydro-demolition technique has competitive operational advantages over the other methods; however, using hydro-demolition for partial-depth bridge deck repair can result in a "punch-through" problem, which occurs when the high-pressure water causes a hole through the entire depth of the bridge deck. 3) The environmental impact of using these methods has not been studied yet.

To investigate the environmental impact of each removal method, a comparative study of the different concrete removal methods is conducted to identify the least environmentally impactful removal technique for partial-depth bridge deck repair. The methods are evaluated from an environmental perspective by estimating the air pollutant emission emitted by each method. Five-air pollutant emissions, CO_2 , CO, NOx, SO_2 , and PM10, are estimated utilizing the MOVES2014b and GREET models. The results showed that the milling technique produced the largest amount of emissions. The chipping method generated the lowest amount of emissions. CO_2 is produced in large quantities among all techniques while SO_2 is the smallest compared with other emissions. Additionally, the results indicate that the amount of air emissions increase relative to the utilization time of the removal technique. The values for emissions per cubic foot can also be used to estimate emissions for larger projects for which environmental offsets can be made. Also note that the estimated removal times can help transportation officials determine the best methods, as the goal in partial-depth replacement is typically to re-open the travel lanes to traffic as soon as possible. The results of the study are significant in that they can be used to help state and local transportation officials develop removal standards that include sustainable practices.

To expedite the concrete removal time and decrease traffic closure time due to the preparation process when the saw and patch method is used, an experimental study was carried out. This study evaluated four different discretized sawing and jackhammering methods in terms of removal time, equipment usage, and damage to the surrounding concrete area. The impacts of utilizing this removal equipment on the soundness of the concrete surrounding the patch area are also evaluated. The performance of the removal methods is evaluated in terms of the patch preparation time, which directly correlates to the bridge traffic closure time. This study concludes that increasing the saw cutting lines decrease the jackhammering time for the different concrete strengths and increases the concrete removal volume. The saw and patch method can be influenced by many factors, such as the operator's skills and health/energy level, saw blade sharpness, and jackhammer pull-off angle. Method IV, which has the largest number of saw-cut lines, is the optimal concrete removal method among the other proposed methods and saves approximately 35% of the required concrete removal time. It also has the potential to be automated in the future.

Finally, the hydro-demolition technique, used for the partial-depth bridge deck repair. is investigated with the objective to eliminate the occurrence of the punch-through problem. Experimental and statistical analyses are performed to analyze the impacts of high-pressure water on concrete as part of the PDR of a concrete bridge deck. Small-scale trials of 15 concrete specimens with varying compressive strengths are tested. Statistical analysis for the experimental data of abrasive water jet on concrete with different compressive strengths is then carried out to develop a predictive model for determining the input parameters to accurately predict concrete removal to a specified depth. The experimental study finds that the water pressure, cutting time, and compressive strength of concrete influence the water jet cutting depth. The statistical analysis provides a multi-regression model that can be employed for the prediction and optimization of response parameters of the hydro-demolition technique. The results of this study can provide a better understating of the controllability and efficiency of using the hydro-demolition technique for partial-depth concrete bridge deck removal.

6.2 Recommendation for Future Works

Based on the findings of this research, several future research projects can be conducted. In this research, the environmental impacts of using the PDR method are considered for one project and one-time bridge deck repair. Furthermore, the study covers only the environmental impacts on air quality by estimating emissions of five air pollutants. This can be extended to include all repair times during the entire life cycle of the bridge deck, and the environmental impacts on water quality as well.

The experimental study of the different discretized sawing and jackhammering methods is only carried out for four small-scale concrete slabs, and one operator did all the removal work. The study's research results could be expanded for large-scale concrete slabs and using the average values of multiple operators. Additionally, the optimal sawing and jackhammering method has also shown the potential to be automated. Automating this method will be a remarkable forward step in the PDR procedure and will save a lot of labor efforts and traffic closure time.

Regarding hydro-demolition, several influence parameters have effects on the occurrence of the punchthrough problem. This study observes the impacts of three of those parameters: water jet pressure, cutting time, and the compressive strength of nonreinforced concrete. Considering other input variables such as nozzle diameter and stand-off distance will provide a better understanding of the effects of the entire hydro-demolition process and its influence parameters. In addition, using some advanced non-destructive concrete testing techniques will help track the concrete behavior and analyze the concrete failure that causes the punch-through.

7. REFERENCES

Abu Shanab, I., and Sorensen, A., 2022. "Air emission pollutants of different partial depth concrete bridge deck repair techniques: a comparative study." *Journal of Structural Integrity and Maintenance*, 8(2), pp. 100-110. https://doi.org/10.1080/24705314.2023.2167575

ACI. 2001. "Removal and Reuse of Hardened Concrete." American Concrete Institute.

ACI. 2014. "Guide to Concrete Repair." American Concrete Institute.

ACI. 2017. "Guide for the Design and Construction of Concrete Site Paving for Industrial and Trucking Facilities." American Concrete Institute.

Alam, Md Rakibul, Kamal Hossain, Ali Azhar Butt, Tim Caudle, and Carlos Bazan. 2020. "Life Cycle Assessment of Asphalt Pavement Maintenance and Rehabilitation Techniques: A Study for the City of St. John's." *Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/cjce-2019-0540</u>.

Anwar, Saqib. 2013. "Modelling of Abrasive Waterjet Milled Footprints." PhD, University of Nottingham. <u>http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/30677</u>.

ARTBA. 2021. "ARTBA's 8th Annual Bridge Report Is a Comprehensive Analysis of the Condition of Bridges in the United States." 2021. <u>https://artbabridgereport.org/</u>.

ASCE, 2021. Bridge C. <u>https://infrastructurereportcard.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Bridges-2021.pdf</u>, accessed on 06/08/2022.

ASTM International. 2013. "ASTM C805/C805M Standard Test Method for Rebound Number of Hardened Concrete."

ASTM International. 2013. "ASTM C231 Standard Test Method for Air Content of Freshly Mixed Concrete by the Pressure Method."

ASTM International. 2016. "ASTM C42/C42M Standard Test Method for Obtaining and Testing Drilled Cores and Sawed Beams of Concrete."

ASTM International. 2018. "ASTM C39/C39M Compressive Strength of Concrete Cylinders."

Atici, U., and Ersoy, A., 2009. "Correlation of specific energy of cutting saws and drilling bits with rock brittleness and destruction energy." *Journal of Materials Processing Technology*, 209(5), pp. 2602-2612.

Balaguera, Alejandra, Gloria Isabel Carvajal, Jaume Albertí, and Pere Fullana-i-Palmer. 2018. "Life Cycle Assessment of Road Construction Alternative Materials: A Literature Review." *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 132 (May): 37–48.

Bazanov, Vladimir. 2019. "Application of Environmentally Friendly Concrete Demolition Techniques in the Repair of Shipping Locks." E3S Web of Conferences. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/20199107020</u>.

BTS. 2019. "Condition of U.S. Highway Bridges | Bureau of Transportation Statistics." 2019. https://www.bts.gov/content/condition-us-highway-bridges.

Chan, M., 2011. "Fatigue: The most critical accident risk in oil and gas construction." *Construction Management and Economics*, 29(4), pp. 341-353.

Chester, Mikhail V., and Arpad Horvath. 2009. "Environmental Assessment of Passenger Transportation Should Include Infrastructure and Supply Chains." *Environmental Research Letters: ERL* [Web Site] 4 (2): 024008.

Chiu, Chui-Te, Tseng-Hsing Hsu, and Wan-Fa Yang. 2008. "Life Cycle Assessment on Using Recycled Materials for Rehabilitating Asphalt Pavements." *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2007.07.001.

Choi, Kunhee, Hyun Woo Lee, Zhuting Mao, Sarel Lavy, and Boong Yeol Ryoo. 2016. "Environmental, Economic, and Social Implications of Highway Concrete Rehabilitation Alternatives." *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management* 142 (2): 04015079.

Conjet. 2018. "Conjet_acr_robot_327.pdf." https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5edb14471433dc7c9df04d54/t/5ef8b70140b8240f64746c32/159335 8085765/Conjet_acr_robot_327.pdf.

Copco. Altas. 2017. "Crossover to Flexible Efficiency." <u>https://www.atlascopco.com/content/dam/atlas-copco/construction-technique/portable-energy/documents/1_compressors/usa/ready-to-go-range/air-compressor-xats-250-us-with-pace-technology-leaflet-english.pdf</u>.

Darter, M., 2017. "Concrete Repair Best Practices: A Series of Case Studies (No. cmr17-013)." Missouri. Dept. of Transportation. Construction & Materials Division.

De Marco, Alessandra, Chiara Proietti, Alessandro Anav, Luisella Ciancarella, Ilaria D'Elia, Silvano Fares, Maria Francesca Fornasier, et al. 2019. "Impacts of Air Pollution on Human and Ecosystem Health, and Implications for the National Emission Ceilings Directive: Insights from Italy." *Environment International* 125 (April): 320–33.

Du, Guangli, and Raid Karoumi. 2014. "Life Cycle Assessment Framework for Railway Bridges: Literature Survey and Critical Issues." *Structure and Infrastructure Engineering: Maintenance, Management, Life-Cycle Design and Performance* 10 (3): 277–94.

Eltobgy, S. Mohamed. 2007. "Modeling of Abrasive Waterjet Machining Using a Multi-Physics Approach." McMaster University.

Engin, I.C., 2012. "A correlation for predicting the abrasive water jet cutting depth for natural stones." *South African Journal of Science*, 108(9), pp. 1-11.

EPA. 2006. "Life Cycle Assessment: Principles and Practice." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

EPA. 2015. "Carbon Pollution from Transportation." U.S Environmental Protection Agent. https://www.epa.gov/transportation-air-pollution-and-climate-change/carbon-pollution-transportation.

EPA. 2016. "Basic Information of Air Emissions Factors and Quantification." U.S Environmental Protection Agent. <u>https://www.epa.gov/air-emissions-factors-and-quantification/basic-information-air-emissions-factors-and-quantification</u>.

Fava, J. A. 2011. "SETAC and Life Cycle Assessment: Parallel Growth." Five Winds International, SETAC.

FHWA. 2017. "Partial-Depth Repairs." U.S Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration. <u>https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/pavement/concrete/repair08.cfm</u>.

Finkbeiner, Matthias, Atsushi Inaba, Reginald Tan, Kim Christiansen, and Hans-Jürgen Klüppel. 2006. "The New International Standards for Life Cycle Assessment: ISO 14040 and ISO 14044." *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 11 (2): 80–85.

Foldyna, Vladimir, Josef Foldyna, Dagmar Klichova, Jiri Klich, Petr Hlavacek, Lenka Bodnarova, Tomas Jarolim, and Katerina Mamulova Kutlakova. 2017. "Effects of Continuous and Pulsating Water Jet on CNT/Concrete Composite." *Strojniski Vestnik/Journal of Mechanical Engineering* 63 (10).

Frentress, Daniel P., and Dale S. Harrington. 2012. *Guide for Partial-Depth Repair of Concrete Pavements*. Iowa State University Institute for Transportation.

Galecki, Greg, N. Maerz, Antonio Nanni, and J. Myers. 2001. "Limitation to Use of Waterjets in Concrete Substrate Preparation." In American Waterjet Conference, 483–93. Citeseer.

Generac. 2016. "XD5000E Commercial Portable GeneratorXD SERIES EPA/CARB." <u>https://www.generac.com/generaccorporate/media/library/content/all-products/portable-recreational-power/xd%20series/xd5000e/xd5000e.pdf</u>.

Generac. 2018. "Residential Standby Generators Air-Cooled Gas Engine." <u>https://www.generac.com/generaccorporate/media/library/content/all-products/generators/home-generators/guardian-series/16kw-7036/20-and-22kw-spec-sheet-generac-new_2.pdf</u>.

Gupta, K., 2020. "Abrasive Water Jet Machining of Metallic Materials." In *Abrasive Water Jet Machining of Engineering Materials* (pp. 13-31). Springer, Cham.

HAMMELMANN. 2017. "High Pressure Pump Units, Aquajet-R 20, S 1600-20, S 1100-20." <u>https://www.hammelmann.com/wAssets/docs/Downloadcenter/Aggregate/Diesel/Aquajet-20/Aquajet-20-en.pdf</u>.

Hashish, M., and M. P. du Plessis. 1979. "Prediction Equations Relating High Velocity Jet Cutting Performance to Stand Off Distance and Multipasses." *Journal of Engineering for Industry* 101 (3): 311–18.

Hauschild, Michael Z. 2018. "Introduction to LCA Methodology." In *Life Cycle Assessment: Theory and Practice*, edited by Michael Z. Hauschild, Ralph K. Rosenbaum, and Stig Irving Olsen, 59–66. Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Hendrickson, Chris T., Lester B. Lave, and H. Scott Matthews. 2010. *Environmental Life Cycle* Assessment of Goods and Services: An Input-Output Approach. Routledge.

Hallowell, M.R., 2010. "Worker fatigue: Managing concerns in rapid renewal highway construction projects." *Professional Safety*, 55(12), pp. 18-26.

Hopwood II, T., Goff, C., Wells, D. and Palle, S., 2015. "Hydrodemolition and Use of a Rapid Early Strength Latex Modified Concrete Overlay."

Hu, Y.N., Wang, C.Y., Ding, H.N. and Wang, Z.W., 2006. "Wear mechanism of diamond saw blades for dry cutting concrete." In *Key Engineering Materials* (Vol. 304, pp. 315-319). Trans Tech Publications Ltd.

ICRI. 2014. "310.3R-2014 (PDF) - Guideline for the Preparation of Concrete Surfaces for Repair Using Hydrodemolition Methods." No. 310.3R-2014. International Concrete Repair Institute. <u>https://store.icri.org/item/3103r2014-pdf-guideline-preparation-concrete-surfaces-repair-hydrodemolition-methods-342518</u>.

Inyim, Peeraya, Jose Pereyra, Michael Bienvenu, and Ali Mostafavi. 2016. "Environmental Assessment of Pavement Infrastructure: A Systematic Review." *Journal of Environmental Management* 176 (July): 128–38.

ISO. 2006. ISO 14044: 2006. "Environmental management—Life cycle assessment—Requirements and guidelines. International Organization for Standardization." International Organization for Standardization.

Jedidi, Malek. 2020. "Evaluation of the Quality of Concrete Structures by the Rebound Hammer Method." *Current Trends in Civil & Structural Engineering*. https://doi.org/10.33552/ctcse.2020.05.000621. Jegaraj, J. John Rozario, J. John Rozario Jegaraj, and N. Ramesh Babu. 2005. "A Strategy for Efficient and Quality Cutting of Materials with Abrasive Waterjets Considering the Variation in Orifice and Focusing Nozzle Diameter." *International Journal of Machine Tools and Manufacture*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmachtools.2005.01.020.

Johnson, B., Otieno, W., and Campbell-Kyureghyan, N., 2017. "Influence of Jackhammer Weight on Grip Pressure, Muscle Activity, and Hand–Arm Vibration of the Operator." *IISE Transactions on Occupational Ergonomics and Human Factors*, 5(1), pp. 12-22.

Jiang, Rui, and Peng Wu. 2019. "Estimation of Environmental Impacts of Roads through Life Cycle Assessment: A Critical Review and Future Directions." *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 77 (December): 148–63.

Karakurt, I., Aydin, G., and Aydiner, K., 2012. "An experimental study on the depth of cut of granite in abrasive waterjet cutting." *Materials and Manufacturing Processes*, 27(5), pp. 538-544.

Kovacevic, Radovan. 1992. "Monitoring the Depth of Abrasive Waterjet Penetration." *International Journal of Machine Tools & Manufacture* 32 (5): 725–36.

Kucukvar, Murat, and Omer Tatari. 2013. "Towards a Triple Bottom-Line Sustainability Assessment of the U.S. Construction Industry." *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 18 (5): 958–72.

Lachemi, M., Hossain, K.M.A., Ramcharitar, M., and Shehata, M., 2007. "Bridge deck rehabilitation practices in North America." *Journal of Infrastructure Systems*, 13(3), pp. 225-234.

Laurinat, A., H. Louis, and G. Tebbing. 1992. "Premixed Abrasive Water Jets – The Influence of Important Parameters." *Jet Cutting Technology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-2678-6_38</u>.

Lenzen, Manfred. 2000. "Errors in Conventional and Input-Output—based Life—Cycle Inventories." *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 4 (4): 127–48.

Lewis, Phil, William Rasdorf, H. Christopher Frey, Shih-Hao Pang, and Kangwook Kim. 2009. "Requirements and Incentives for Reducing Construction Vehicle Emissions and Comparison of Nonroad Diesel Engine Emissions Data Sources." *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management* 135 (5): 341–51.

Lewis, Robert W. 1990. "Hydrodemolition for Concrete Removal in Bridge Rehabilitation." Virginia Tech. <u>https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/handle/10919/42898</u>.

Liu, Jialiang, Yuelong Chen, and Yujie Zhu. 2021. "Breaking Mechanism and Damage Evolution Rule of Ultra-High-Pressure Water Jet Impacting Steel Fiber Reinforced Concrete." *Advances in Civil Engineering* 2021 (April). <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/6697409</u>.

Liu, Jialiang, Kunyuan Li, Shujian Du, and Songqiang Xiao. 2021. "Experimental Study on Broken Area Evolution Characteristics and Crack Propagation Rules of Water Jet Impacting Concrete with Precracks." *Journal of Performance of Constructed Facilities* 35 (1): 04020130.

Liu, S., Liu, X., Chen, J., and Lin, M., 2015. "Rock breaking performance of a pick assisted by highpressure water jet under different configuration modes." *Chinese Journal of Mechanical Engineering*, 28(3), pp. 607-617.

Liu, Xiaohui, Ping Tang, Qi Geng, and Xuebin Wang. 2019. "Effect of Abrasive Concentration on Impact Performance of Abrasive Water Jet Crushing Concrete." *Shock and Vibration Digest* 2019 (March). https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3285150.

Liu, Xiaoyu, Qingbin Cui, and Charles Schwartz. 2014. "Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Alternative Pavement Designs: Framework Development and Illustrative Application." *Journal of Environmental Management* 132 (January): 313–22.

Llanto, J.M., Vafadar, A., Aamir, M., and Tolouei-Rad, M., 2021. "Analysis and optimization of process parameters in abrasive waterjet contour cutting of AISI 304L." *Metals*, 11(9), p.1362.

London, John. 2011. "How to Calculate Excavator Productivity." *HomeSteady* | *The Ultimate Guide for All Your Household Needs*. February 27, 2011. https://homesteady.com/13650496/how-to-calculate-excavator-productivity.

Ma, L., Bao, R.H. and Guo, Y.M., 2008. "Waterjet penetration simulation by hybrid code of SPH and FEA." *International Journal of Impact Engineering*, 35(9), pp. 1035-1042.

Maguire, Marc, Sorensen, Andrew D., Thomas, Robert J., Pour, Ali Banaei, Al Sarfin, Md. Abdullah. 2021. "Evaluation of Commercially Available Concrete Bridge Deck Repair Materials." (No. UT-17.105), Utah Department of Transportation-Research Division.

Mamulová Kutláková, K., 2017. "Effects of continuous and pulsating water jet on CNT/concrete composite."

Mashhadi, A.H., and Rashidi, A., 2021. "Evaluating Mobility Impacts of Construction Workzones On Utah Transportation System Using Machine Learning Techniques" (No. NITC-SS-1362). National Institute for Transportation and Communities (NITC).

McCabe, Matthew. 2014. "Structural Evaluation of Slab Rehabilitation by Method of Hydrodemolition and Latex Modified Overlay." Thesis, University of Pittsburgh. <u>http://d-scholarship.pitt.edu/19756/</u>.

Miao, X., Wu, M., Qiang, Z., Wang, Q., and Miao, X., 2017. "Study on optimization of a simulation method for abrasive water jet machining." *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 93(1), pp. 587-593.

Momber, A., and R. Kovacevic. 1999. Principles of Abrasive Water Jet Machining. Springer, New York.

Momber, A. W. 2003. "An SEM-Study of High-Speed Hydrodynamic Erosion of Cementitious Composites." *Composites Part B Engineering* 34 (2): 135–42.

Momber, A. W., and R. Kovacevic. 1997. "Test Parameter Analysis in Abrasive Water Jet Cutting of Rocklike Materials." *International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining Sciences* 34 (1): 17–25.

Momber, Andreas. 2011. Hydrodemolition of Concrete Surfaces and Reinforced Concrete. Elsevier.

Ojmertz, K.M.C. 1993, August. "Abrasive water jet milling: an experimental investigation." In Proceedings of the 7th American Water Jet Conf., water jet tech. Assoc. St. Louis, Seattle, Washington (pp. 777-791).

Ozcelik, Y., Gursel, M., Ciccu, R., Costa, G., and Bortolussi, A. 2012. "Optimization of working parameters of water jet cutting in terms of depth and width of cut." Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part E: Journal of Process Mechanical Engineering, 226(1), pp. 64-78.

Park, Kwangho, Yongwoo Hwang, Seongwon Seo, and Hyungjoon Seo. 2003. "Quantitative Assessment of Environmental Impacts on Life Cycle of Highways." *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management* 129 (1): 25–31.

"Quantify the Energy and Environmental Effects of Using Recycled Asphalt and Recycled Concrete for Pavement Construction: Phase I Final Report." 2009. New York Energy Research and Development Authority.

Ramcharitar, M., 2005. "Current bridge deck rehabilitation practices: use and effectiveness" (No. MQ-94225 UMI). National Library of Canada, Canada, Ottawa.

Rasdorf, William, Phil Lewis, Ingrid Arocho, and Joseph Hummer. 2015. "Characterizing Air Pollutant Emissions for Highway Construction Projects." *Smart and Sustainable Built Environment* 4 (3): 315–28.

Rodriguez, J., 2019. "How to safely use an electric or pneumatic jackhammer." <u>https://www.thebalancesmb.com/how-to-use-a-jackhammer-844942</u>, access on July 6, 2022.

Roper, E.A., 2018. "Chloride concentration and blow-through analysis for concrete bridge decks rehabilitated using hydro-demolition." Brigham Young University.

Santero, Nicholas J., Eric Masanet, and Arpad Horvath. 2011. "Life-Cycle Assessment of Pavements. Part I: Critical Review." *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 55 (9): 801–9.

SCHIBECI. 2018. "RM350." Schibeci Construction Equipment. 2018. https://www.scemachinery.com/rm350.html.

Schrank, D., Eisele, B. and Lomax, T., 2019. "Urban mobility report 2019."

Silfwerbrand, J. L. 2009. "Bonded Concrete Overlays for Repairing Concrete Structures." In *Failure, Distress and Repair of Concrete Structures*, edited by Norbert Delatte, 208–43. Woodhead Publishing.

Sitek, Libor, Josef Foldyna, Petr Martinec, Jiří Ščučka, Lenka Bodnárová, and Rudolf Hela. 2011. "Use of Pulsating Water Jet Technology for Removal of Concrete in Repair of Concrete Structures." *The Baltic Journal of Road and Bridge Engineering* 6 (4): 235–42.

Sitek, Libor, Josef Foldyna, Jiří Ščučka, Branislav Švehla, Lenka Bodnárová, and Rudolf Hela. 2003. "Concrete and Rock Cutting Using Modulated Waterjets." In Proc. of the 7th Pacific Rim International Conference on Water Jetting Technology. Ed. by Lee, 235–44.

Smith, Kurt D., Dale S. Harrington, Linda Pierce, Prashant Ram, Kelly L. Smith, and Iowa State University. National Concrete Pavement Technology Center. 2014. "Concrete Pavement Preservation Guide." FHWA-HIF-14-014. United States. Federal Highway Administration. https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/38556.

Smith, Kurt D., Todd E. Hoerner, and David G. Peshkin. 2008. "Concrete Pavement Preservation Workshop," February. <u>https://trid.trb.org/view/889843</u>.

Sorensen, Andrew, R. Thomas, M. Maguire, and I. Quezada. 2018. "Calcium Sulfoaluminate (CSA) Cement: Benefits and Applications." *Concrete International* 40: 65–69.

Srinivasu, D. S., D. A. Axinte, P. H. Shipway, and J. Folkes. 2009. "Influence of Kinematic Operating Parameters on Kerf Geometry in Abrasive Waterjet Machining of Silicon Carbide Ceramics." *International Journal of Machine Tools & Manufacture* 49 (14): 1077–88.

Varnavina, A.V., Khamzin, A.K., Sneed, L.H., Torgashov, E.V., Anderson, N.L., Maerz, N.H., and Boyko, K.J., 2015. "Concrete bridge deck assessment: Relationship between GPR data and concrete removal depth measurements collected after hydrodemolition." *Construction and Building Materials*, 99, pp. 26-38.

Vorster, M.C., Merrigan, J.P., Lewis, R.W., and Weyers, R.E., 1992. "Techniques for concrete removal and bar cleaning on bridge rehabilitation projects" (No. SHRP-S-336).

Wang, Hao, Rashmi Gangaram, and University of Delaware. Dept. of Civil and Environmental Engineering. 2014. "Life Cycle Assessment of Asphalt Pavement Maintenance." CAIT-UTC-013. Rutgers University. Center for Advanced Infrastructure and Transportation. https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/28057.

Wang, J., and D. M. Guo. 2002. "A Predictive Depth of Penetration Model for Abrasive Waterjet Cutting of Polymer Matrix Composites." *Journal of Materials Processing Technology* 121 (2): 390–94.

Weiland, Craig, and Stephen T. Muench. 2010. "Life-Cycle Assessment of Reconstruction Options for Interstate Highway Pavement in Seattle, Washington." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*. https://doi.org/10.3141/2170-03.

Wenzlick, John D. 2002. "Hydrodemolition and Repair of Bridge Decks." Missouri Department of Transportation, Research, Development and Technology Division.

Wilson, T. P., K. L. Smith, and A. R. Romine. 1999. "Materials and Procedures for Rapid Repair of Partial-Depth Spalls in Concrete Pavements: Manual of Practice (update)." FHWA-RD-99-152. https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/14189/.

Xue, Y., Si, H., Xu, D. and Yang, Z., 2018. "Experiments on the microscopic damage of coal induced by pure water jets and abrasive water jets." *Powder Technology*, 332, pp. 139-149.

Xu, Shunli. 2006. "Modelling the Cutting Process and Cutting Performance in Abrasive Waterjet Machining with Controlled Nozzle Oscillation." Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane.

Yazdi, Mohammad Ali, Elien Dejager, Mats Debraekeleer, Elke Gruyaert, Kim Van Tittelboom, and Nele De Belie. 2020. "Bond Strength between Concrete and Repair Mortar and Its Relation with Concrete Removal Techniques and Substrate Composition." *Construction and Building Materials*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2019.116900.

Yu, Bin, and Qing Lu. 2011. "Life Cycle Assessment of Pavement Overlay Systems with Focus on Usage Phase." unknown. <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.1365.7924</u>.

Zhang, C. 2010. "Delivering Sustainable Bridges to Help Tackle Climate Change." Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers - Engineering Sustainability 163 (2): 89–95.

Zhang, Chao, Muhammad Amaduddin, and Lee Canning. 2011. "Carbon Dioxide Evaluation in a Typical Bridge Deck Replacement Project." Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers - Energy 164 (4): 183–94.

Zhao, Y. Z., and Yu Hou Wu. 2004. "An Experimental Research on Mixed Abrasive Water Jet Cutting Concrete." Key Engineering Materials. <u>https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/kem.259-260.587</u>.

Zhu, J., Zheng, W., Sneed, L.H., Xu, C. and Sun, Y., 2019. "Green Demolition of Reinforced Concrete Structures: Review of Research Findings." *Global Journal of Research in Engineering*.

APPENDIX A



Figure A.1: Map of the Repair patches (Phase 1: Blue, Phase 2: Green, Phase 3: Magenta)

Repair Area Average (nt) Volume (nt) Area (nt) Area (nt) Volume (nt) Repair (nt) Volume (nt) Repair (nt) Area (nt) Area (nt)		Ph	ase 1			Ph	ase 2		Phase 3			
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Repair	Area (ft ²)	Average Depth	Volume (ft ³)	Repair	Area (ft ²)	Average Depth	Volume (ft ³)	Repair	Area (ft ²)	Average Depth	Volume (ft ³)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1	16 33	3.5	476	57	16.52	3.5	482	1	91.93	3	22.98
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2	211	2	0.35	58	3 43	2.5	0.71	2	36.22	3	9.06
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3	75.98	35	22.16	59	4 38	3	1 10	3	23.85	2.5	4 97
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4	34.14	3.75	10.67	60	9.75	3	2.44	4	163.75	3.5	47.76
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	5	5.63	4	1.88	61	9.88	3	2.47	5	28.72	3.5	8 38
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	6	7.88	3.5	2.30	62	9.11	3	2.28	6	29.17	3	7.29
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	7	24.14	4	8.05	63	7.8	2.5	1.63	7	22.57	3.5	6.58
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	8	2.6	4	0.87	64	5.06	3	1.27	8	13.67	3	3.42
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	9	2.11	3	0.53	65	4.38	2.5	0.91	9	4.06	3.75	1.27
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10	12.51	3.5	3.65	66	2.24	2.5	0.47	10	380.76	3.25	103.12
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	11	0	0	0.00	67	5.42	3	1.36	11	22.73	3	5.68
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	12	18.81	4	6.27	68	8.67	3	2.17	12	18.6	3	4.65
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13	15.14	3.5	4.42	70	7.33	2.5	1.53	13	5.04	3	1.26
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	14	6.71	3	1.68	71	2.24	2	0.37	14	7.76	3	1.94
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	15	18.06	3.5	5.27	72	5.04	2.5	1.05	15	3.67	2.5	0.76
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	16	12.65	3.5	3.69	P1-1	6.45	2.5	1.34	16	33.06	4	11.02
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	17	35.32	3.5	10.30	P1-23	9.87	3.25	2.67	17	79.53	4	26.51
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	18	3.5	3	0.88	P1-30	4.4	2.5	0.92	18	7.2	4	2.40
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	19	18.59	4	6.20	P1-33a	2.22	3	0.56	19	6.85	4	2.28
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	20	32.05	3.75	10.02	P1-33b	63.03	3.5	18.38	20	10.42	3.5	3.04
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	21	5.44	3.5	1.59	P1-33c	3.99	3.5	1.16	21	10.21	3.25	2.77
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	22	17.65	3.5	5.15	P1-33d	4	3	1.00	22	36.73	3.25	9.95
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	23	18.58	4	6.19	P1-41	5.02	3	1.26	23	100.38	3.25	27.19
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	24	10.63	4	3.54	P1-44	29.16	3	7.29	24	13.5	3.5	3.94
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	25	36.02	3.5	10.51	P3-11a	15.4	3	3.85	25	21.27	2.5	4.43
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	26	4.08	3.5	1.19	P3-11b	4.81	3	1.20	26	34.63	4	11.54
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	27	76.68	2.75	17.57	P2-12	27.53	3	6.88	27	4.69	3.5	1.37
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	28	118.92	4	39.64	P2-14	23.1	3	5.78	28	4.78	4	1.59
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	29	14.72	3.5	4.29	P3-16	13.98	3	3.50	29	4.51	2	0.75
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	30	16.49	4	5.50	P3-17a	8.86	2.5	1.85	30	3.51	2	0.59
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	31	27.93	3.5	8.15	P3-17b	3.5	3	0.88	31	54	3	13.50
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	32	30.47	3.5	8.89	P3-17c	2.25	3.25	0.61	32	7.44	3	1.86
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	33	613.75	3	153.44	P3-26	22.17	3	5.54	33	62.49	3.75	19.53
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	34	2.5	2	0.42	P3-34	6.5	3	1.63	34	12.46	4.25	4.41
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	35	29.54	3	7.39	P3-35	3.79	3	0.95	35	13.44	4	4.48
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	36	15.57	3.75	4.87	P3-36	3.8	2.5	0.79	36	22.43	4	7.48
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	37	0	0	0.00	P3-39	16.69	4	5.56	37	7.79	3.75	2.43
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	38	0	0	0.00	P3-5	9.75	2.5	2.03	38	9.28	4	3.09
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	39	6.04	3	1.51	P3-7a	20.68	3	5.17	39	38.97	5.25	17.05
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	40	9.68	3	2.42	P3-7b	5.96	2.5	1.24	40	20.82	3.5	6.07
42 81.1 3 20.28 43 3.2 2.5 0.67 44 335.35 3 83.84 45 92.4 3 23.10 46 6.05 3 1.51 47 8.45 3 2.11 48 0 0 0.00 49 0 0 0.00 50 7.2 3 1.80 51 70.47 5 29.36 52 0 0 0.00 53 1.56 2 0.26 54 6.25 2.5 1.30 55 21.99 3 5.50	41	6.37	2.5	1.33	73	3.56	2.5	0.74				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	42	81.1	3	20.28								
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	43	3.2	2.5	0.67								
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	44	335.35	3	83.84								
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	45	92.4	3	23.10								
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	46	6.05	3	1.51								
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	47	8.45	3	2.11								
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	48	0	0	0.00								
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	49	0	0	0.00								
51 70.47 5 29.36 52 0 0 0.00 53 1.56 2 0.26 54 6.25 2.5 1.30 55 21.99 3 5.50	50	7.2	3	1.80								
52 0 0 0.00 53 1.56 2 0.26 54 6.25 2.5 1.30 55 21.99 3 5.50	51	70.47	5	29.36								
53 1.56 2 0.26 54 6.25 2.5 1.30 55 21.99 3 5.50	52	0	0	0.00								
54 6.25 2.5 1.30 55 21.99 3 5.50	53	1.56	2	0.26								
55 21.99 5 5.50	54	6.25	2.5	1.30								
1 56 125 35 365 1	55	12.5	3	3.50								

Table A.1: Summery of the repair patches.

APPENDIX B

	Repair	patech			Method I 4 saw cutting	z)		Method II 6 saw cutting	i)	Method III N (8 saw cutting) (10		Method IV 10 saw cutting)			
Repair Patch #	Area (ft2)	L (ft)	Volume (ft3)	Saw cutting time (minute)	Jackhamm ering time (minute)	Total time (minute)	Saw cutting time (minute)	Jackhamm ering time (minute)	Total time (minute)	Saw cutting time (minute)	Jackhamm ering time (minute)	Total time (minute)	Saw cutting time (minute)	Jackhamm ering time (minute)	Total time (minute)
1	16.33	8.17	4.76	29.72	141.13	170.85	44.58	113.15	157.73	59.44	94.25	153.69	74.30	33.32	107.62
2	2.11	1.06	0.35	3.84	10.38	14.22	5.76	8.32	14.08	7.68	6.93	14.61	9.60	2.45	12.05
3	75.98	37.99	22.10	62.13	316.37	378.50	207.43	253.63	346.83	2/0.57	438.77	335.54	345.71	74.69	230.03
5	5.63	2.82	1.88	10.25	55.74	65.99	15.37	44.69	60.06	20.49	37.22	57.72	25.62	13.16	38.78
6	7.88	3.94	2.30	14.34	68.20	82.54	21.51	54.67	76.18	28.68	45.54	74.22	35.85	16.10	51.95
7	24.14	12.07	8.05	43.93	238.68	282.62	65.90	191.35	257.25	87.87	159.39	247.26	109.84	56.35	166.19
8	2.60	1.30	0.87	4.73	25.80	30.53	7.10	20.68	27.78	9.46	17.23	26.69	11.83	6.09	17.92
9	12.51	6.26	3.65	22.77	108.22	19.00	34.15	86.76	120.01	/.08	72.27	117.81	9.00	25.55	82.47
10	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
12	18.81	9.41	6.27	34.23	185.91	220.14	51.35	149.04	200.39	68.47	124.15	192.61	85.59	43.89	129.48
13	15.14	7.57	4.42	27.55	131.05	158.61	41.33	105.06	146.40	55.11	87.52	142.63	68.89	30.94	99.83
14	0./1	3.30	1.68	12.21	49.81	62.02	18.32	39.93	58.25	24.42	33.20	57.69	30.53	26.80	42.29
16	12.00	6.33	3.69	23.02	109.41	132.43	34 53	87.71	122.25	46.05	73.06	119.11	57.56	25.83	83 39
17	35.32	17.66	10.30	64.28	305.40	369.68	96.42	244.83	341.25	128.56	203.94	332.50	160.71	72.10	232.81
18	3.50	1.75	0.88	6.37	26.09	32.46	9.56	20.92	30.47	12.74	17.42	30.16	15.93	6.16	22.09
19	18.59	9.30	6.20	33.83	183.83	217.66	50.75	147.37	198.12	67.67	122.76	190.43	84.58	43.40	127.98
20	32.05	16.03	10.02	58.33	297.09	355.42	87.50	238.18	325.67	110.00	198.40	315.06	145.83	70.14	215.97
21	17.65	8.83	5.15	32.12	152.70	184.82	48.18	122.42	170 60	64 25	101 97	166.22	80.31	36.05	116 36
23	18.58	9.29	6.19	33.82	183.53	217.35	50.72	147.14	197.86	67.63	122.56	190.19	84.54	43.33	127.87
24	10.63	5.32	3.54	19.35	104.96	124.31	29.02	84.15	113.17	38.69	70.09	108.79	48.37	24.78	73.15
25	36.02	18.01	10.51	65.56	311.62	377.18	98.33	249.82	348.16	131.11	208.10	339.21	163.89	73.57	237.46
26	4.08	2.04	1.19	7.43	35.28	42.71	11.14	28.29	39.42	14.85	23.56	38.41	18.56	8.33	26.89
27	118.92	59.46	39.64	216.43	1175 33	1391.76	324.65	942.24	1266.89	432.87	784.87	1217 74	541.09	277.48	#/1.88 818 57
29	14.72	7.36	4.29	26.79	127.20	153.99	40.19	101.97	142.16	53.58	84.94	138.52	66.98	30.03	97.01
30	16.49	8.25	5.50	30.01	163.08	193.09	45.02	130.74	175.75	60.02	108.90	168.92	75.03	38.50	113.53
31	27.93	13.97	8.15	50.83	241.65	292.48	76.25	193.73	269.97	101.67	161.37	263.04	127.08	57.05	184.13
32	30.47	15.24	8.89	55.46	263.59	319.04	83.18	211.32	294.50	110.91	176.02	286.93	138.64	62.23	200.87
35	2 50	1 25	0.42	4 5 5	12 45	17.00	6.83	9.98	16.81	9 10	8 32	17.42	2/92.30	2 94	14 3 2
35	29.54	14.77	7.39	53.76	219.11	272.88	80.64	175.66	256.30	107.53	146.32	253.85	134.41	51.73	186.14
36	15.57	7.79	4.87	28.34	144.40	172.73	42.51	115.76	158.27	56.67	96.43	153.10	70.84	34.09	104.93
37	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
38	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	25.80	0.00	0.00	0.00	<u>0.00</u>	0.00	0.00	28.05
40	9.68	4 84	2.42	17.62	71.75	89.37	26.43	57.52	83.95	35.24	47.92	83.15	44 04	16.94	60.98
41	6.37	3.19	1.33	11.59	39.43	51.03	17.39	31.61	49.00	23.19	26.33	49.52	28.98	9.31	38.29
42	81.10	40.55	20.28	147.60	601.30	748.90	221.40	482.06	703.46	295.20	401.54	696.75	369.01	141.96	510.97
43	3.20	1.60	0.67	5.82	19.87	25.69	8.74	15.93	24.66	11.65	13.27	24.91	14.56	4.69	19.25
44	555.55 02.40	10 / .08	83.84	010.34	2485.80	3090.19	252.25	5/0.00	2908.38	226.24	1000.03	2880./1	1525.84	280.88	582.12
46	6.05	3.03	1.51	11.01	44.77	55.78	16.52	35.89	52.41	22.02	29.90	51.92	27.53	10.57	38.10
47	8.45	4.23	2.11	15.38	62.56	77.94	23.07	50.15	73.22	30.76	41.78	72.54	38.45	14.77	53.22
48	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
49	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
50	70.47	35.00	2936	128.26	870.52	998.78	19.00	697.89	890.27	256 51	581 33	837.84	32.70	205.52	526.16
52	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
53	1.56	0.78	0.26	2.84	7.71	10.55	4.26	6.18	10.44	5.68	5.15	10.83	7.10	1.82	8.92
54	6.25	3.13	1.30	11.38	38.55	49.92	17.06	30.90	47.96	22.75	25.74	48.49	28.44	9.10	37.54
56	21.99	6.25	3.50	40.02	103.08	203.10	34.12	86.76	120.80	80.04	108.90	188.94	56.88	25.50	82.43
57	16.52	8.26	4.82	30 07	142.91	172.98	45 10	114 57	159 67	60 13	95 44	155 57	75 17	33.74	108 91
58	3,43	1.72	0.71	6,24	21.05	27.29	9,36	16.88	26.24	12.49	14.06	26.54	15.61	4.97	20.58
59	4.38	2.19	1.10	7.97	32.62	40.59	11.96	26.15	38.10	15.94	21.78	37.72	19.93	7.70	27.63
60	9.75	4.88	2.44	17.75	72.35	90.09	26.62	58.00	84.62	35.49	48.31	83.80	44.36	17.08	61.44
61	9.88	4.94	2.47	17.98	73.24	91.22	26.97	58.71	85.68	35.96	48.91	84.87	44.95	17.29	62.24
62	9.11	4.56	2.28	16.58	67.60	84.18	24.87	54.20	79.07	33.16	45.14	78.30	41.45	15.96	57.41
63	7.80	3.90	1.63	14.20	48.33	62.53	21.29	38.75	60.04	28.39	32.27	60.67	35.49	11.41	46.90
64	5.06	2.53	1.27	9.21	37.66	46.86	13.81	30.19	44.00	18.42	25.15	43.56	23.02	8.89	31.91
65	4.38	2.19	0.91	7.97	26.98	34.95	11.96	21.63	33.59	15.94	18.02	33.96	19.93	6.37	26.30
66	2.24	1.12	0.47	4.08	13.94	18.01	6.12	11.17	17.29	8.15	9.31	17.46	10.19	3.29	13.48
67	5.42	2.71	1.36	9.86	40.32	50.19	14.80	32.33	47.12	19.73	26.93	46.66	24.66	9.52	34.18

	Repair	patech		M ethod I (4 saw cutting)		z)	M ethod II (6 saw cutting)		M ethod III (8 saw cutting)			M ethod IV (10 saw cutting)			
Panain	A		Valuma	Saw cutting	Jackhamm	Total time	Saw cutting	Jackhamm	Totaltimo	Saw cutting	Jackhamm	Total time	Saw cutting	Jackhamm	Totaltimo
Patch #	(ft2)	L (ft)	(ft3)	time	ering time	(minute)	time	ering time	(minute)	time	ering time	(minute)	time	ering time	(minute)
				(minute)	(mmute)		(mmute)	(mmute)		(mmute)	(mmute)		(mmute)	(mmute)	
68 69	8.67	4.34	2.17	15.78	45.36	58.71	23.67	36.37	56.38	31.56	42.97	74.52	39.45	15.19	24.64
70	2.24	1.12	0.37	4.08	10.97	15.05	6.12	8.79	14.91	8.15	7.33	15.48	10.19	2.59	12.78
71	5.04	2.52	1.05	9.17	31.13	40.31	13.76	24.96	38.72	18.35	20.79	39.14	22.93	7.35	30.28
72	6.45	3.23	1.34	11.74	39.73	51.47	17.61	31.85	49.46	23.48	26.53	50.01	29.35	9.38	38.73
74	4.40	2.20	0.92	8.01	27.28	35.29	12.01	21.87	33.88	16.02	18.22	34.23	20.02	6.44	26.46
75	2.22	1.11	0.56	4.04	16.60	20.64	6.06	13.31	19.37	8.08	11.09	19.17	10.10	3.92	14.02
76	63.03	31.52	18.38	114.71	544.97	659.68	172.07	436.89	608.96	229.43	363.92	593.35	286.79	128.66	415.45
77	3.99	2.00	1.16	7.26	29.65	41.66	10.89	27.57	38.47	14.52	22.97	37.49	18.15	8.12	26.27
79	5.02	2.50	1.26	9.14	37.36	46.50	13.70	29.95	43.65	18.27	24.95	43.22	22.84	8.82	31.66
80	29.16	14.58	7.29	53.07	216.15	269.22	79.61	173.28	252.89	106.14	144.34	250.48	132.68	51.03	183.71
81	15.40	7.70	3.85	28.03	114.15	142.18	42.04	91.51	133.56	56.06	76.23	132.29	70.07	26.95	97.02
82	27.53	13.77	6.88	50.10	203.99	254.10	75.16	163.54	238.69	100.21	136.22	236.43	125.26	48.16	173.42
84	23.10	11.55	5.78	42.04	171.38	213.42	63.06	137.39	200.45	84.08	114.44	198.53	105.11	40.46	145.57
85	13.98	6.99	3.50	25.44	103.78	129.22	38.17	83.20	121.36	50.89	69.30	120.19	63.61	24.50	88.11
86 87	8.86	4.43	1.85	16.13 6.37	26.00	70.98	24.19	43.97	68.16	32.25	36.63	68.88	40.31	12.95	22.00
88	2.25	1.13	0.60	4.10	18.09	22.18	6.14	14.50	20.64	8.19	12.08	20.27	10.24	4.27	14.51
89	22.17	11.09	5.54	40.35	164.26	204.61	60.52	131.69	192.21	80.70	109.69	190.39	100.87	38.78	139.65
90	6.50	3.25	1.63	11.83	48.33	60.16	17.75	38.75	56.49	23.66	32.27	55.93	29.58	11.41	40.99
91	3.79	1.90	0.95	6.90	28.17	30.34	10.35	18.78	29.15	13.80	15.81	2.9.47	17.24	5.53	23.89
93	16.69	8.35	5.56	30.38	164.85	195.23	45.56	132.16	177.72	60.75	110.09	170.84	75.94	38.92	114.86
94	9.75	4.88	2.03	17.75	60.19	77.93	26.62	48.25	74.87	35.49	40.19	75.68	44.36	14.21	58.57
95	20.68	10.34	5.17	37.64	153.29	190.93	56.46	122.89	179.35	75.28	102.37	177.64	94.09	36.19	130.28
90	3.56	1.78	0.74	6.48	21.94	28.42	9.72	17.59	27.31	12.96	14.65	27.61	16.20	5.18	21.38
98	91.93	45.97	22.98	167.31	681.36	848.67	250.97	546.23	797.20	334.63	455.00	789.63	418.28	160.86	579.14
99	36.22	18.11	9.06	65.92	268.63	334.55	98.88	215.36	314.24	131.84	179.39	311.23	164.80	63.42	228.22
100	23.85	11.93 81.88	4.97	43.41	147.36	190.77	65.11 447.04	118.14	183.25	86.81 596.05	98.41	185.22	108.52	34.79	143.31
101	28.72	14.36	8.38	52.27	248.47	300.74	78.41	199.19	277.60	104.54	165.92	270.46	130.68	58.66	189.34
103	29.17	14.59	7.29	53.09	216.15	269.24	79.63	173.28	252.92	106.18	144.34	250.52	132.72	51.03	183.75
104	22.57	11.29	6.58	41.08	195.10	236.17	61.62	156.41	218.02	82.15	130.28	212.44	102.69	46.06	148.75
105	4.06	2.03	1.27	7.39	37.66	45.04	11.08	30.19	41.27	49.70	25.15	39.92	18.47	8.89	27.36
107	380.76	190.38	103.12	692.98	3057.51	3750.49	1039.47	2451.16	3490.64	1385.97	2041.78	3427.74	1732.46	721.84	2454.30
108	22.73	11.37	5.68	41.37	168.41	209.78	62.05	135.01	197.07	82.74	112.46	195.20	103.42	39.76	143.18
109	18.60	9.30	4.65	33.85	37.87	171.72	50.78	20.05	161.31	67.70	92.07	159.77	84.63	32.55	31.75
110	7.76	3.88	1.94	14.12	57.52	71.64	21.18	46.11	67.30	28.25	38.41	66.66	35.31	13.58	48.89
112	3.67	1.84	0.76	6.68	22.53	29.21	10.02	18.07	28.08	13.36	15.05	28.41	16.70	5.32	22.02
113	33.06	16.53	11.02	60.17	326.74	386.91	90.25	261.95	352.20	120.34	218.20	338.53	150.42	77.14	227.56
114	7 2.0	39.77	20.51	144.74	71 16	84.26	19.66	57.05	76 70	26 21	47 52	73 73	32.76	16.80	49.56
116	6.85	3.43	2.28	12.47	67.60	80.07	18.70	54.20	72.90	24.93	45.14	70.08	31.17	15.96	47.13
117	10.42	5.21	3.04	18.96	90.14	109.10	28.45	72.26	100.71	37.93	60.19	98.12	47.41	21.28	68.69
118	10.21	5.11	0.05	18.58	82.13	100.71	27.87	236 51	93.72	37.16	54.85	92.01	46.46	19.39	65.85
119	100.38	50.19	27.19	182.69	806.18	988.88	274.04	646.31	920.34	365.38	538.36	903.75	456.73	190.33	647.06
121	13.50	6.75	3.94	24.57	116.82	141.39	36.86	93.65	130.51	49.14	78.01	127.15	61.43	27.58	89.01
122	21.27	10.64	4.43	38.71	131.35	170.06	58.07	105.30	163.37	77.42	87.71	165.14	96.78	31.01	127.79
125	4.69	2.35	1.34	8.54	40.62	405.19	12.80	32.56	45.37	120.05	22 8.49	44.20	21.34	9.59	30.93
125	4.78	2.39	1.59	8.70	47.14	55.84	13.05	37.79	50.84	17.40	31.48	48.88	21.75	11.13	32.88
126	4.51	2.26	0.75	8.21	22.24	30.45	12.31	17.83	30.14	16.42	14.85	31.27	20.52	5.25	25.77
127	3.51	1.76	0.59	6.39 98.28	400.28	23.88	9.58	320 90	23.61	12.78	267.30	24.46	15.97 245.70	4.13	20.10
120	7.44	3.72	1.86	13.54	55.15	68.69	20.31	44.21	64.52	27.08	36.83	63.91	33.85	13.02	46.87
130	62.49	31.25	19.53	113.73	579.06	692.80	170.60	464.23	634.83	227.46	386.69	614.16	284.33	136.71	421.04
131	12.46	6.23	4.41	22.68	130.76	153.43	34.02	104.83	138.84	45.35	87.32	132.67	56.69	30.87	87.56
132	22.43	11.22	7,48	40.82	221.78	262.60	61.23	177.80	239.03	48.92	148.10	229.75	102.06	52.36	92.51
134	7.79	3.90	2.43	14.18	72.05	86.23	21.27	57.76	79.03	28.36	48.11	76.47	35.44	17.01	52.45
135	9.28	4.64	3.09	16.89	91.62	108.51	25.33	73.45	98.78	33.78	61.18	94.96	42.22	21.63	63.85
136 137	38.97	19.49	17.05	70.93	179.09	217.87	106.39	405.28	201 12	141.85	337.59	479.44	04.73	119.35	296.66
157	Total tim	ie (minute) =	0.07	57.07	1/9.70	39402.30	50.04	144.20	36603.95	12.10	120.17	35881.14	24.75	72.97	25563.04
	Total t	time (hour) =	·			656.71			610.07]		598.02			426.05

APPENDIX C

ш	Calar	fc	Pressure	Time	Cutting	
#	Color	(psi)	(ksi)	(minute)	depth (inch)	
1	Orange	7683	10	1	1.949	
2	Orange	7683	10	1	1.718	
3	Orange	7683	10	1.5	1.632	
4	Orange	7683	10	1.5	1.854	
5	Orange	7683	10	2	1.828	
6	Orange	7683	10	2	2.287	
7	Orange	7683	12.5	1	2.231	
8	Orange	7683	12.5	1	2.013	
9	Orange	7683	12.5	1.5	2.589	
10	Orange	7683	12.5	1.5	2.465	
11	Orange	7683	12.5	2	2.725	
12	Orange	7683	12.5	2	3.076	
13	Orange	7683	15	1	2.484	
14	Orange	7683	15	1	2.115	
15	Orange	7683	15	1.5	3.015	
16	Orange	7683	15	1.5	2.821	
17	Orange	7683	15	2	3.357	
18	Orange	7683	15	2	3.254	
19	Orange	7683	17.5	1	2.677	
20	Orange	7683	17.5	1	3.198	
21	Orange	7683	17.5	1.5	3.818	
22	Orange	7683	17.5	1.5	1.546	
23	Orange	7683	17.5	2	4.107	
24	Orange	7683	17.5	2	4.078	
25	Yellow	5460	10	1	2.084	
26	Yellow	5460	10	1	1.978	
27	Yellow	5460	10	1.5	1.621	
28	Yellow	5460	10	1.5	1.753	
29	Yellow	5460	10	2	2.731	
30	Yellow	5460	10	2	2.506	
31	Yellow	5460	12.5	1	1.147	
32	Yellow	5460	12.5	1	2.366	
33	Yellow	5460	12.5	1.5	2.888	
34	Yellow	5460	12.5	1.5	2.976	
35	Yellow	5460	12.5	2	3.104	
36	Yellow	5460	12.5	2	3.184	
37	Yellow	5460	15	1	2.184	
38	Yellow	5460	15	1	1.338	
39	Yellow	5460	15	1.5	3.518	
40	Yellow	5460	15	1.5	3.621	
41	Yellow	5460	15	2	2.361	
42	Yellow	5460	15	2	3.909	
43	Yellow	5460	17.5	1	3.872	
44	Yellow	5460	17.5	1	3.1495	
45	Yellow	5460	17.5	1.5	3.4605	

#	Calar	fc	Pressure	Time	Cutting
#	Color	(psi)	(ksi)	(minute)	depth (inch)
46	Yellow	5460	17.5	1.5	4.1295
47	Yellow	5460	17.5	2	3.8965
48	Yellow	5460	17.5	2	4.5815
49	Pink	5880	10	1	1.724
50	Pink	5880	10	1	1.738
51	Pink	5880	10	1.5	2.132
52	Pink	5880	10	1.5	1.742
53	Pink	5880	10	2	2.846
54	Pink	5880	10	2	2.63
55	Pink	5880	12.5	1	2.424
56	Pink	5880	12.5	1	1.841
57	Pink	5880	12.5	1.5	2.21
58	Pink	5880	12.5	1.5	2.639
59	Pink	5880	12.5	2	3.196
60	Pink	5880	12.5	2	2.971
61	Pink	5880	15	1	2.77
62	Pink	5880	15	1	1.805
63	Pink	5880	15	1.5	1.853
64	Pink	5880	15	1.5	3.198
65	Pink	5880	15	2	3.266
66	Pink	5880	15	2	3.433
67	Pink	5880	17.5	1	3.025
68	Pink	5880	17.5	1	3.315
69	Pink	5880	17.5	1.5	3.859
70	Pink	5880	17.5	1.5	3.878
71	Pink	5880	17.5	2	3.508
72	Pink	5880	17.5	2	3.588
73	Green	8660	10	1	1.719
74	Green	8660	10	1	1.556
75	Green	8660	10	1.5	1.767
76	Green	8660	10	1.5	1.959
77	Green	8660	10	2	1.995
78	Green	8660	10	2	2.023
79	Green	8660	12.5	1	1.996
80	Green	8660	12.5	1.5	2.068
81	Green	8660	12.5	1.5	2.239
82	Green	8660	12.5	1.5	2.005
83	Green	8660	12.5	2	2.402
05	Green	8000	12.5	<u> </u>	2.712
83	Green	8000	15	<u> </u>	2.80/
<u> </u>	Green	8000	15	1 5	2./18 1 995
<u> </u>	Green	8000	15	1.5	1.885
<u> </u>	Green	8000	15	1.5	3.000
<u>89</u>	Green	8000	15	2	3.30/
90	Green	0000 9660	13	<u> </u>	3./12 2.725
02	Green	0000	17.5	1	2.733
72	Ultell	8000	17.3	1	2.701

	Calar	fc	Pressure	Time	Cutting
<i>#</i>	Color	(psi)	(ksi)	(minute)	depth (inch)
93	Green	8660	17.5	1.5	3.605
94	Green	8660	17.5	1.5	3.111
95	Green	8660	17.5	2	4.091
96	Green	8660	17.5	2	3.823
97	Blue	10077	10	1	1.508
98	Blue	10077	10	1	1.612
99	Blue	10077	10	1.5	1.716
100	Blue	10077	10	1.5	1.625
101	Blue	10077	10	2	2.076
102	Blue	10077	10	2	2.014
103	Blue	10077	12.5	1	1.727
104	Blue	10077	12.5	1	2.138
105	Blue	10077	12.5	1.5	1.858
106	Blue	10077	12.5	1.5	2.176
107	Blue	10077	12.5	2	1.801
108	Blue	10077	12.5	2	2.536
109	Blue	10077	15	1	2.016
110	Blue	10077	15	1	1.862
111	Blue	10077	15	1.5	2.817
112	Blue	10077	15	1.5	2.823
113	Blue	10077	15	2	3.54
114	Blue	10077	15	2	3.112
115	Blue	10077	17.5	1	2.594
116	Blue	10077	17.5	1	2.487
117	Blue	10077	17.5	1.5	2.198
118	Blue	10077	17.5	1.5	3.338
119	Blue	10077	17.5	2	3.975
120	Blue	10077	17.5	2	4.157